Department of Public Health University of Helsinki

# IMPACT OF TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE ON QUALITY OF CARE

## STUDIES ON TOTAL HIP AND KNEE REPLACEMENT

Mikko Peltola

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in Auditorium XIV, University Main building, on 2 September 2016, at 12 o'clock.

Helsinki 2016

ISBN 978-951-51-2389-3 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-2390-9 (PDF)

Unigrafia Helsinki 2016

#### Supervisor

Unto Häkkinen, Research Professor Centre for Health and Social Economics CHESS National Institute for Health and Welfare Helsinki, Finland

#### Reviewers

Petri Virolainen, MD, PhD Turku University Hospital Turku, Finland

Ola Rolfson, MD, PhD

Associate Professor, Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon Department of Orthopaedics, Institute of Clinical Sciences Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg Mölndals Hospital/Sahlgrenska University Hospital Mölndal, Sweden

#### Opponent

Pekka Rissanen, Professor School of Health Sciences, University of Tampere Tampere, Finland

To my family

## ABSTRACT

This thesis analysed the impact that the introduction of new technology may have on the quality of care in a hospital setting. Technological change in medicine is rapid, as new devices are constantly taken into use in patient care, and new methods of delivering the care to patients are introduced, replacing existing routines and creating new practices – all with the aim of benefitting patients. The present thesis focused on total hip and knee replacement, by analysing the introduction of implants, and by assessing the effects that a change in the production network (technology) via the launch or closure of an entire unit performing arthroplasty had on the quality of surgery as assessed by revision risk.

Data for this study came from the Finnish Arthroplasty Register data on total joint replacements, Finnish administrative data on hospital discharges, prescribed medication, special reimbursements to medication and cause-ofdeath statistics. All total hip and knee replacements performed because of primary osteoarthritis in the period 1998 to 2011 were included. Survival analysis, with the revision of the joint in the follow-up as the outcome measure, was applied in the studies.

For both total hip and knee replacement, the introduction of an implant in a hospital increases the risk of revision within three to five years, respectively, after the primary operation. The risk was higher for knee implants. For both surgeries, this learning effect was found to be implant specific. Of the analysed ten most common total hip and knee implant models, one hip and four knee implant models showed a learning curve, with the risk for reoperation decreasing with the greater number of surgeries performed with the implant model. Launching of arthroplasty surgery in a unit was not associated with a learning curve, but in units terminating total hip replacement surgery, the last 100 patients had worse short-term implant survivorship compared to patients who had had surgery in these units before the closure stage.

The introduction of total hip and knee implants in a hospital was associated with increased revision risk in the introductory phase for some implant models. The introduction of new medical devices should be carefully considered in hospitals. The personnel acquiring new devices for use in a hospital should base their decisions on solid evidence of the efficiency of the technology and practice beforehand with the new devices. In addition, patients should be informed when new technology is introduced in their treatment and given the possibility to decline its use. On the health system level, health policy makers should take into account the result that unit closures may affect the quality of care in the closure stage, and try to guarantee stable operation settings for patients. Keywords: Total joint replacement, learning curve, endoprosthesis

## TIIVISTELMÄ

Sairaanhoitoa tarvitsevien potilaiden paremman ja tehokkaamman hoidon tavoittelemisessa tärkeänä osana on uusien hoitomenetelmien ja -välineiden kehittäminen ja käyttöönotto hoitotyössä. Uuden teknologian käyttöönottoon kuuluu sen käytön opettelu arjen hoitoympäristössä. Ns. oppimiskäyrällä tarkoitetaan ilmiötä, jossa inhimillisen toiminnan osana on toiminnan muuttuminen kokemuksen karttumisen seurauksena. Tässä väitöskirjassa tarkastellaan sairaaloissa tapahtuvan teknologisen muutoksen vaikutusta potilaiden hoidon laatuun lonkan ja polven tekonivelleikkauksissa.

Väitöskiriassa arvioidaan mikä on sairaalassa suoritetun uuden lonkan tai polven tekonivelmallin käyttöönoton vaikutus nivelen uusintaleikkausriskiin. Eritvisesti tarkastelun kohteena on sairaalassa aiemmin käyttämättömän tekonivelmallin käyttöönoton vaikutus potilaiden lvhven aian uusintaleikkauksen todennäköisyyteen. Lisäksi väitöskirjassa tutkitaan suuremman teknologisen kokonaisuuden muutoksen vaikutusta lonkan ja tekonivelleikkausten laatuun arvioimalla polven koko tekonivelleikkaustoiminnan aloittamiseen ja lopettamiseen liittyvää kävttämällä hoitotoiminnan laadun muutosta laadun mittarina uusintaleikkausta.

Tutkimukset perustuvat suomalaisiin tervevdenhuollon rekisteriaineistoihin. Vuosien 1998 ja 2011 välisenä aikana Manner-Suomessa tehdyt lonkan ja polven kokotekonivelleikkausten tiedot ja loppuun saakka seuranta vuoden 2013 potilaille tehdvistä uusintaleikkauksista kerättiin tervevdenhuollon hoitoilmoitusrekisteristä ja implanttirekisteristä. Mukaan tarkasteluihin otettiin primaarin nivelrikon vuoksi tehdyt tekonivelleikkaukset. Sairaalalle uusien tekonivelmallien käyttöönottoon sekä sairaalan tekonivelleikkaustoiminnan aloittamis- tai lopettamisvaiheeseen liittvvää uusintaleikkausriskiä tutkittiin eloonjäämisanalyysin avulla.

Lonkan polven tekonivelleikkauksissa tekonivelmallin ia uuden käyttöönottoon sairaalassa liittyy kohonnut varhaisen eli 3-5 vuoden kuluessa ensitekonivelleikkauksesta tehdyn uusintaleikkauksen riski. Polven tekonivelleikkausten kohdalla uuden tekonivelmallin käyttöönottoon liittyvä uusintaleikkausriski oli lonkan tekonivelleikkaukseen liittvvää uusintaleikkausriskiä korkeampi. Keskimäärin oppimiskäyrä oli nopea, sillä uuden implanttimallin käyttöönoton kohdalla vain 15 sairaalassa ensimmäisenä uudella tekonivelmallilla tehtyä leikkausta olivat tilastollisesti merkitsevästi suuremmassa vaarassa uusintaleikkaukselle. Tekonivelmallikohtaisten tarkastelujen perusteella sekä lonkan että polven tekonivelleikkauksissa oppimiskäyrä liittyi joihinkin tekonivelmalleihin mutta ei kaikkien mallien käyttöönottoon.

Suuremman teknologisen muutoksen kohdalla uusintaleikkausriskin ei havaittu olevan poikkeava lonkan tai polven tekonivelleikkaustoiminnan aloittamisvaiheessa. Lonkan ja polven tekonivelleikkaustoiminnan päättymistä edeltävässä toiminnan lopettamisvaiheessa viimeisen 100 leikkauksen joukossa tehtyjen lonkan tekonivelleikkausten uusintaleikkausriski oli suurempi kuin samoissa sairaaloissa ennen tätä vaihetta tehtyjen tekonivelleikkausten kohdalla.

Uusien tekonivelmallien käyttöönottoon liittyy riski aloitusvaiheen leikkausten heikommasta laadusta mikä näkvi tutkimuksessa kohonneena uusintaleikkauksen todennäköisvytenä. Uusien tekonivelmallien käyttöönotto sairaaloissa tulee harkita tarkkaan ja käyttöönottopäätösten tulee perustua tieteelliseen näyttöön tekonivelmallien toimivuudesta ja Tekonivelleikkauksiin osallistuvan pvsvvvdestä. henkilöstön tulee harjoitella uusien tekonivelten käyttöä ja potilaille tulee kertoa mikäli heille ollaan suunnittelemassa tekonivelleikkausta sairaalassa hiljattain käyttöönotetulla tekonivelmallilla. Terveydenhuollossa järjestelmätasolla tulee huomioida toiminnan keskittämisen myötä tehtävien yksiköiden lopettamisten seurauksena tulevat laatuvaikutukset ja pyrkiä takaamaan hoito potilaiden laadukas myös tervevdenhuoltojärjestelmän murrosvaiheissa.

Avainsanat: Tekonivelkirurgia, oppimiskäyrä, endoproteesi

# CONTENTS

Abstract7							
Tiivistelmä9							
Li	st of orig	ginal publications13					
A	bbreviat	ions14					
1	Intro	oduction15					
2	2 Background and review of the literature						
	2.1	Total hip and knee replacement					
	2.2	Introduction of new implants to the market 20					
	2.3	Learning curve in arthroplasty23					
	2.4	Launch and closure of hospitals and units29					
3	The	aim of the research					
4	Data	and methods34					
	4.1	Health care register data34					
	4.2	Innovation: chronological use of register data35					
<ul> <li>4.3 Definition of implant intr</li> <li>4.4 Definitions of unit launch</li> <li>4.5 Data and methods in Stud</li> </ul>		Definition of implant introduction					
		Definitions of unit launch and closure					
		Data and methods in Studies I-IV37					
5 Results		llts 40					
	5.1 1980 ar	5.1 Descriptive results on the implant market in Finland between 1980 and 2013					
	5.2	Learning curve in total hip and knee replacement43					
5.3 Learning curves of the most common implants		Learning curves of the most common implants44					
	5.4	4 Hospital launch and closure4					
6	Discussion47						

6.1	Main results and previous literature	47				
6.2	Limitations and strengths of the studies	50				
6.3	Implications					
6.4	Suggestions for future research	53				
7 C	7 Conclusions56					
Acknowledgements						
References59						
Appendix: Literature on learning curve in total hip and knee replacement						
Original publications74						

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications:

## I

Peltola M, Malmivaara A, Paavola M. Introducing a Knee Endoprosthesis Model Increases Risk of Early Revision Surgery. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research 2012, Vol. 470, No. 6, 1711-1717.

### Π

Peltola M, Malmivaara A, Paavola M. Hip Prosthesis Introduction and Early Revision Risk: A Nationwide Population Based Study Covering 39 125 Operations. Acta Orthopaedica 2013, Vol. 84(1), Pages 25-31. doi:10.3109/17453674.2013.771299.

### III

Peltola M, Malmivaara A, Paavola M. Learning curve for new technology? A nationwide register-based study of 46 363 total knee arthroplasties. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery 2013; 95(23): 2097-2103.

### IV

Peltola M, Malmivaara A, Paavola M, Seitsalo S. Elevated risk of early reoperation in total hip replacement during the stage of unit closure. Acta Orthopaedica 2016; 87(2): 126-131.

The publications are referred to in the text by their roman numerals.

# ABBREVIATIONS

CE	Conformité Européanne
CE	Conformite Europeenne
e.g.	exempli gratia
EUDAMED	European Databank on Medical Devices
FAR	Finnish arthroplasty register
FDA	United States Food and Drug Administration
FHDR	Finnish hospital discharge register
HTA	Health technology assessment
i.e.	id est
NARA	Nordic Arthroplasty Register Association
OARSI	Osteoarthritis Research Society International
PIC	Personal Identity Code
PMA	Premarket Approval Application
SII	Social Insurance Institution
THL	National Institute for Health and Welfare, Finland
THR	Total hip replacement
TJR	Total joint replacement
TKR	Total knee replacement
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

In health care, changes over time in the manner of how services are produced and in the details of how a specific treatment is performed are constantly taking place. Advances in medicine have been extraordinary over time and the evolution of medicine has generated a lot of health and wellbeing for humankind. Today, the health care market is vast and the possibility to make profits encourages entrepreneurs to develop new medical technology for the market. New innovations are introduced in patient care with the aim of increasing the quality of treatment and improving patient wellbeing. Patients and doctors are attracted to new technology and are often eager to press it into service, sometimes even without scientific evidence of the safety and efficacy of the technology. However, it is not automatically true that new technology is beneficial for patients.

This thesis studies the effects of introducing medical devices and a change in the manner of production in the specialty of orthopaedics. By way of an example of newly introduced technology, the effects that new hip or knee implant models have on the quality of treatment are investigated. The new devices taken into use may show a learning curve, i.e. the skill that is needed to master the technology may develop gradually. This learning process may show as a change in the quality of care over time, with more experience with the technology improving the outcome of care. Importantly, the thesis shows how a learning curve related to a medical device can be assessed with nationwide administrative data.

Total hip and knee replacements (THR and TKR, respectively) are wellestablished treatments for severe osteoarthritis. They increase patient quality of life substantially. THR has been referred to as the operation of the century (Learmonth, Young & Rorabeck 2007) to highlight its importance in medicine and to honour the innovators of joint replacement surgery. THR and TKR are procedures that consume the largest share of resources among individual surgical treatments in specialized health care in Finland (Remes et al. 2015). However, despite the expenditure, it's a very cost-effective treatment (Lehto, Jämsen & Rissanen 2005).

In these two surgeries there have been a number of innovations over the last decades that have affected the surgical techniques and instrumentation involved. Advances have been made for example with implant designs and materials and with preoperative planning. In total, these innovations together with the accumulation of knowledge of how to perform total joint replacement (TJR) have led to major improvements in the surgical treatment of severe osteoarthritis. The survivorship of many implant models is well documented (i.e. whether the implant is still physically in the patient or has been removed), and it is known that the implant models in both hip and knee replacement show different survivorships. However, the impact of the

introduction of new implant models in a hospital has not been investigated extensively, and attention has not been paid sufficiently to the introductory phase.

Numerous hip and knee implant models are used in Finnish hospitals and the available selection of implant models varies between hospitals. Every now and then a hospital may change the selection of implants that is used in the hospital by introducing implants not previously used in the hospital. The reasons for a change in implant usage vary but typically implants are taken into use due to their better survivorship, durability and lower cost. As a result, some patients are operated on with the newly introduced implant. Gradually, as the number of surgeries with the implant model grows, the implant becomes familiar to the surgical staff. An introduced implant model may have a learning curve that shows the rate at which the skill of working with the entire instrumentation around the implant model is acquired. This acquisition of know-how may vary between implants. An implant manifesting a learning curve may have poorer patient outcomes in the introductory phase. In this study, revision surgery (hereafter revision) within a relatively short-term follow-up after the primary surgery are studied as an indicator of quality of care. In this thesis a revision refers to any reoperation involving the removal, exchange or addition of an implant component.

Similarly to micro-level changes such as an implant introduction, a macro-level change in the manner of production may affect care quality. The learning curve may also be related to the organization of care. Performing arthroplasty is teamwork, where the expertise of every member of the team is needed in order to guarantee the success of the operation. In addition, the whole care pathway has an effect on patient outcomes, where the team's performance is pronounced. The building of these teams takes time, as the professional first need to be recruited and then they need to learn how to best cooperate with each other. Any abrupt changes in such a team may show up as deteriorated quality.

The teams that perform total joint replacements are set up when a unit launches arthroplasty, and they disband when arthroplasty is terminated in a unit. These clear starts and ends of operational function – in contrast with the steady phase of the function – are natural points to study the effects that these changes in the operating environment can have on the quality of care. In addition to studying implant-related learning curves, hospital unit launches and closures are analysed in order to find out if they have an effect on short-term revision rates of arthroplasty patients.

In Finland, the health care system is publicly funded. There are both private and public hospitals that perform total joint arthroplasty, but the public hospitals dominate the market and a significant majority of operations are carried out in public hospitals (around 60 hospitals). Over the years, there has been some pressure to centralize the public production, especially for specialized treatments like total joint arthroplasty. During the last 20 years, a number of clinics performing arthroplasty have quit performing TJR.

At the same time, new and mostly private clinics have begun to perform total joint arthroplasty.

The projected increase in the number of TJRs may also affect the production environment, as new units performing arthroplasties are likely to be opened in many countries. On the other hand, with limited resources available for health care, and attempts to increase system efficiency, this may lead to the closure of units through a centralisation of surgery. Thus, the effects that launches and closures of surgical units may have on the quality of care at the launch or closure phase, are of importance to health policy.

In TJR some studies have tried to quantify the learning curve effect for some implant models (e.g. (Santini, Raut 2008, Sansone, da Gama Malcher 2004)), although most studies have been based on consecutive operations in a single hospital and have not been able to reliably confirm any modelspecific learning curve effects on the outcome of TJR. The learning curve as a concept in surgery is usually associated with a physician in the early phase of his/her career, but the learning effect (i.e. greater variation of operationrelated patient outcomes) related to instrumentation or new technology has not been analysed to any great extent.

Both introducing implants and restructuring the organisation of care are results of decisions that can and should be evaluated. As shown in this thesis, the quality aspects brought about with these kinds of changes ought to be taken into account whenever managers are exerting power to adjust the production processes, be it at the level of a single hospital or a clinic, or at the level of the entire health care system. This thesis supplies information and tools that can be utilized at the health system level (regulation of medical devices, organization of services), while the results of this thesis have practical importance for a wide audience, ranging from orthopaedists, patients, health care managers, to the scientific community.

The thesis consisted of four studies and of unpublished research. These are summarized according to the following structure: Chapter 2 gives an introduction to THR and TKR, presents an overview of the implant models in Finland, reviews literature on the learning curve in THR and TKR, and introduces the literature on hospital unit launches and closures. The aims of the thesis are presented in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 describes the data used and the methods applied in the thesis. The main results are summarized in Chapter 5. Chapter 6 reflects on the findings of the thesis in the context of existing literature, briefly summarizes the strengths and limitations of the studies, discusses the implications of the studies, and gives suggestions for further research. Chapter 7 concludes the thesis.

## 2 BACKGROUND AND REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

## 2.1 TOTAL HIP AND KNEE REPLACEMENT

In total joint replacement (TJR), parts of a damaged or arthritic joint are removed and replaced with a device made of combinations of materials, such as metal, plastic or ceramic. The implant, or prosthesis, is designed to mimic the function of a healthy joint. The most common TJR surgeries are performed on the hip and knee joints.

Total joint replacement of the hip has a long history in medicine. The first documented attempts to treat severe hip joint disorders were done with rudimentary surgery in the 1800s (Park 1782, White 1849). At the turn of the 20th century surgeons had introduced methods to perform interpositional hip arthroplasty and a number of materials to cover reconstructed femoral heads (Gomez, Morcuende 2005). The early prostheses were made of rubber, ivory, and acryl, to name a few materials, with the first metal prosthesis introduced in the 1930s, and component fixation methods and materials developed alongside them, with some of the early innovations showing moderate results, though some were catastrophic (Gomez, Morcuende 2005). In the 1960s, the stage was set for successful surgery performed by Sir John Charnley (Charnley 1961), the inventor of modern THR, showing very good long-term results (Berry et al. 2002).

Following THR, in the 1970s an explosion of ideas was seen in the field of prosthetic knee arthroplasty and most innovations on TKR took place during that decade (Robinson 2005). The first total condylar knee was introduced in 1974, and in March 1974 the first total condylar knee design with a tibial stem was implanted (Ranawat 2002). By 1980, a large share of the designs and surgical techniques used today in TKR had been developed (Robinson 2005). A number of engineers and surgeons enabled this development (Ranawat 2002, Robinson 2005). Today, TKR is a multibillion dollar industry with millions of TKRs performed worldwide annually (Kurtz et al. 2011).

The most common condition for performing THR and TKR is osteoarthritis (Robertsson et al. 2001). Osteoarthritis is the most common disease of the hip and knee joints and a major cause of mobility disability and chronic musculoskeletal pain in the elderly worldwide (Peat, McCarney & Croft 2001, Dawson et al. 2004, Dunlop et al. 2003). Older adults with symptomatic arthritis have higher health care utilization and thereof costs than people without arthritis (Dunlop et al. 2003). THR and TKR are among the most successful and reliable orthopaedic procedures for pain relief in patients with advanced osteoarthritis (Ethgen et al. 2004). In Finland, 5 % of Finnish men and 7 % of Finnish women aged over 30 are diagnosed with osteoarthritis of the knee, and 5 % and 4 % with osteoarthritis of the hip, respectively (Heliövaara 2008). The prevalence of osteoarthritis increases with ageing. In Finland, of women aged 75 to 84, 32 % have been estimated to suffer from knee osteoarthritis and 20 % from hip osteoarthritis (Arokoski et al. 2007). For men of this age, the prevalence of knee osteoarthritis was estimated to be at 16 % and hip osteoarthritis at 20 % (Arokoski et al. 2007).

Due to its disabling nature, osteoarthritis has been estimated to impose significant costs on Finnish society. In 2000, osteoarthritis was estimated to be associated with 613 000 physician visits, and in 2005 there were more than 100 000 hospital stays with surgical procedures related to musculoskeletal diseases in Finland (Heliövaara 2008). In 2003, the primary THR and TKR surgeries performed due to primary osteoarthritis in Finland were estimated to have direct medical costs of EUR 84 million (Remes et al. 2007). The greatest costs incurred by Finnish society from osteoarthritis arise due to the disability and loss of functional ability: at the end of 2014, 21 524 people were entitled to disability pension because of musculoskeletal diseases, with a total benefit of more than EUR 5 million per month (Kelasto, of statistical database the Social Insurance Institution [SII]. http://www.kela.fi/kelasto, accessed on November 29, 2015). In 2008, Heliövaara estimated the direct and indirect costs of osteoarthritis to Finnish society to be around EUR 1 billion per year.

To reflect the prevalence of osteoarthritis and the costs related to it, a number of international recommendations have been published regarding the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis (e.g. (Jordan et al. 2003, Zhang et al. 2005, Zhang et al. 2008)) and non-surgical treatment of osteoarthritis, for example, by the Osteoarthritis Research Society International (OARSI, <u>http://oarsi.org/education/oarsi-guidelines</u>). A review published in 2008 appraised the quality and consistency of the clinical practice guidelines from the years 1996 to 2005 and concluded that the quality of the guidelines varied considerably (Misso et al. 2008). In Finland, the Current Care Guidelines for hip and knee: Current Care Guidelines, 2014),

The incidence of TJR has increased steadily in Finland (Mäkelä et al. 2010, Skyttä et al. 2011, Pamilo et al. 2015), as well as internationally (Kurtz et al. 2005, Nemes et al. 2014) over recent years. In a study of 18 countries with a combined population of 755 million, more than 1 million TKRs were performed annually (Kurtz et al. 2011). In 2013, more than 10 000 THR and 11 000 TKR surgeries were performed in Finland (Rainio, Perälä 2014). Worldwide, more than a million total joint replacements (TJR) are performed each year, while the rates of THR and TKR in different populations vary to a great extent (Pabinger, Geissler 2014, Pabinger, Lothaller & Geissler 2015, Pivec et al. 2012). The projections made for THR

and TKR volumes in the future show growth for these procedures (e.g. (Kurtz et al. 2007b, Kurtz et al. 2014, Nemes et al. 2014)). In Finland, the incidence of osteoarthritis of the hip and osteoarthritis of the knee in men has remained stable between the 1980s and the first decade of the 21st century (Heliövaara 2008). In women, however, the osteoarthritis of the knee has halved in the 20 years since 1981 (Heliövaara 2008).

Modern TJR has revolutionized the treatment of patients disabled by osteoarthritis. Initially, the indications for THR were mostly restricted to the decrepit and elderly or people with locomotor limitations jointly with other comorbidities (Learmonth, Young & Rorabeck 2007). Since then the indications have widened and today a compromise in quality of life due to osteoarthritis of the hip is considered a valid indication for THR (Learmonth, Young & Rorabeck 2007). In Finland, a patient representing with osteoarthritis of the hip that is not responding to non-surgical treatment and has restrictions in mobility is eligible for THR (Current Care Guidelines, http://www.kaypahoito.fi/web/english/guidelineabstracts/guideline?id=ccs 00030, accessed 16 January 2016), and the Ministry of Health and Social Affairs has published criteria for care of T.IR in Finland (www.terveysportti.fi). The Finnish Arthroplasty Association (Suomen Artroplastiayhdistys) published recommendations on performance of THR and TKR in 2010, and updated the recommendation in 2015 (Remes et al. 2015).

THR and TKR both substantially improve health-related quality of life (Ethgen et al. 2004, Towheed, Hochberg 1996, Skou et al. 2015, Rissanen et al. 1996) and are considered cost-effective treatments for osteoarthritis of the hip and knee (McMurray et al. 2002, Walker et al. 2002, Zhang, Glynn & Felson 1996, Dakin et al. 2012, Rissanen et al. 1997). The improvements in health-related quality of life also are sustained for years after the surgery (Bruyère et al. 2012). TJR has been increasingly performed in younger patients (Pabinger, Geissler 2014, Pabinger, Lothaller & Geissler 2015), and it has been shown that these patients return to work after surgery (Lombardi et al. 2014).

# 2.2 INTRODUCTION OF NEW IMPLANTS TO THE MARKET

The market for THR and TKR is big in economic terms and very attractive for manufacturers of medical devices. For this market there are currently numerous models of hip and knee implants available and new models will emerge due to the drive for new technology and marketing, as well as the expansion of the market because of increases in the incidence of THR and TKR (Dixon et al. 2004, Jain et al. 2005, Kim 2008, Kurtz et al. 2007a, Kurtz et al. 2014, Nemes et al. 2014). Since Charnley introduced the cemented low-friction hip arthroplasty, numerous advancements in technology concerning

THR have been made (Learmonth, Young & Rorabeck 2007). Similarly, in TKR a number of innovations have been introduced since the 1970s (Zanasi 2011).

Comparisons of implant survivorship show that the implant model has an effect on the risk for revision surgery (Furnes et al. 2002, Koskinen et al. 2008, Rand et al. 2003, Robertsson et al. 2001, Mäkelä et al. 2008, Mäkelä et al. 2010). New technology is taken into clinical use as the clinicians perceive the new products and techniques as advantageous for their patients; they believe that new implants improve clinical results (Sharkey et al. 1999).

However, the new technology may not always automatically lead to better patient outcomes. For example, regarding the implants used in THR and TKR, Anand et al. (2011) have shown that more than a guarter of the new implant models introduced in Australia had a higher revision rate than established models in 5 years of follow-up and none of the new introduced hip and knee implants had better survivorship than the established implants. A systematic literature review assessing the effectiveness and safety of five recent devices in TJR did not find convincing evidence supporting the use of these device innovations in orthopaedic surgery, concluding that the existing devices may be safer (Nieuwenhuijse et al. 2014). There may also be publication bias regarding survivorship of hip and knee implants, as there is limited evidence of long-term revision rates of many hip and knee implant models, and the reporting of revisions as an outcome measure has been poor in non-registry studies that form the majority of the evidence on implants' survivorship (Pabinger et al. 2013, Pabinger et al. 2015a, Pabinger et al. 2015b).

Hip and knee implants may be introduced in a market without solid scientific evidence of safety and effectiveness (Kesselheim, Avorn 2013). Countries differ in their approaches to the adoption of new technology. Most of the research concerning the topic has been made in the United States (US), the biggest medical device market in the world, where regulations on the introduction of new medical devices, especially for high risk devices, is more rigorous than for example in the European Union (Kramer, Xu & Kesselheim 2012). In 2013, a systematic review found that nearly a quarter of the hip replacement implant models that were used by surgeons in the United Kingdom (UK) had no scientific evidence for their clinical effectiveness (Kynaston-Pearson et al. 2013). Overall, medical devices undergo heath technology assessment (HTA) less often than pharmaceuticals, and the share of HTAs on devices has remained steady over the period 2010–2014 whilst the number of HTAs on pharmaceuticals increase annually (Lie et al. 2015).

In the USA, the medical devices introduced in the field of orthopaedics need to fulfil certain requirements prior to acceptance for marketing by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (Sheth et al. 2009). Novel devices need to pass the premarket approval (PMA) process to demonstrate the effectiveness and safety of the new device with clinical evidence (Samuel et al. 2016). However, medical devices, including hip and knee implants, may receive prompt approval by demonstrating the new product is 'substantially equivalent' to an existing and approved implant. This premarket notification (known as 510(k)) allows manufacturers to avoid the use of clinical trials, and is the route of most medical devices to the market in the USA (Sheth et al. 2009).

Recently, Samuel et al. (2016) investigated all original orthopaedic devices that had received FDA PMA approval and their subsequent postmarket device changes in the USA between 1982 and 2014. They identified only 70 devices, a big contrast, for example, to the over 169 different highrisk metal-on-metal hip implants introduced to the market with the use of premarket notification by December 2015. In another study, 701 new THR devices were introduced to the market between 1976 and 1996 via the 510(k) pathway against 34 via the PMA process (Mahomed et al. 2008). Of the 70 devices identified by Samuel et al., 34 were peripheral joint implants, 18 spinal implants, and 18 other materials or devices. Median of the number of post-market changes the devices had undergone was 6.5, with the rate of post-market device changes having increased throughout the study time span. For the analysed devices, there had been 765 post-market changes in total. The authors highlight that even devices that have initially been approved via the PMA process may experience changes that may affect their effectiveness and safety.

The orthopaedic community has acknowledged the problems in taking new devices into use (Zuckerman, Brown & Nissen 2011, Samuel et al. 2016, Thompson et al. 2011, Kynaston-Pearson et al. 2013, Nieuwenhuijse et al. 2014) and a number of suggestions have been made to improve the process (Mahomed et al. 2008, Callaghan et al. 2005, Schemitsch et al. 2010, Malchau 2000). Post-market surveillance of the introduced devices has also been shown to be insufficient, as for example in the USA, the existing mandatory device reporting system may capture only a small fraction of the serious adverse events (Mahomed et al. 2008).

In the post-marketing phase, in the USA units using approved devices are obliged to report serious adverse events related to the device to the FDA and the manufacturer, and the reports are available in a public Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience database (Kramer, Xu & Kesselheim 2012). In the EU, manufacturers are required to report serious adverse events to the Competent Authorities and since 1998, each Competent Authority has had access to data that stores information on data of approvals, clinical studies, and details on post-market events (European Databank on Medical Devices, EUDAMED). Since 2011, manufacturers of medical devices are required to report events directly to EUDAMED. In Europe, an analysis made of device failures proved that there are problems in accessing data on individual devices, and the authors gave recommendations on how the system should be changed (Thompson et al. 2011).

There has been no country-specific regulation in Finland concerning the introduction of implants in THR and TKR. In Finland, all devices with a

Conformité Européenne (CE) mark can be marketed and used in hospitals. In 2015, the Finnish Arthroplasty Association has updated its guidelines on the performance of THR and TKR in Finland, and added a chapter on the introduction of new implants to give guidance to orthopaedists on the introduction of new devices in their practice (Remes et al. 2015). According to the guidelines, before introducing a model in a hospital, the implant model should have gone through biomechanical and laboratory testing, and have clinical results. The model should have demonstrated better clinical performance or it should be more economically viable than models already in use in the hospital. The guidelines also state that when a new implant model is introduced, it should be accompanied by a training program and that the new devices need to be actively monitored. Although in Finland the Finnish Arthroplasty Register (FAR) includes data on implant titles and could be used for this kind of monitoring, implant-specific survivorship results have not been regularly published. Finally, in Finland there is no national regulation concerning the introduction and the selection of implants in hospitals. In practice, the hospitals and the orthopaedists are in charge of the implant selection and the implant stock of the hospitals.

In addition to the introduction of new devices to the market, already existing and used devices may be combined, thus creating new device entities. In THR, the stem (femoral) and cup (acetabular) components may be mixed, i.e. the stem and cup models from different manufacturers and product lines are used interchangeably. Mixing of components is a relatively common practice in THR (Tucker et al. 2015), but guite uncommon in TKR. The mixing of components is a somewhat strange practice by the surgeons. since it is against the manufacturers' directions and regulatory guidance (Tucker et al. 2015). From a methodological point of view, the mixing of components complicates the analysis of implant survivorship, as the different components may contribute to survivorship of the pair of components differently. In THR, the mixing of components has been shown to be associated with a higher revision rate when heads from one manufacturer are combined with stems from another (Tucker et al. 2015). On the other hand, mixing a cemented stem and a polyethylene cup from different manufacturers is associated with a decreased risk for revision (Tucker et al. 2015). Results concerning component mixing in Finland are presented in this work, in Section 5.1 for an overall picture of THR and TKR, and in Study II for THR.

## 2.3 LEARNING CURVE IN ARTHROPLASTY

Learning curve, in general, refers to the rate of learning a new skill ("Learning Curve." Merriam-Webster.com. Accessed January 19, 2016. <u>http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/learning%20curve</u>). A learning curve can be used to visually describe this rate. The concept of a learning curve was coupled with the rate of increase in productivity in aviation manufacturing by T P Wright in the 1930s and it was later adapted to medicine (Le Morvan, Stock 2005). Le Morvan and Stock (2005) point out three relevant notions about typical medical learning: patients are exposed to excess risk, learning is ubiquitous, and the problems inherent in the learning process are not solved with consent procedures. In medicine, the skills needed are not all learned from the textbooks and it takes practice to learn and improve. This is widely agreed upon, although it is usually unknown how much practice is necessary to attain an optimal level of performance.

Although the concept of a learning curve is known across the areas of medicine, the effects of learning are most dramatic in surgery (Hopper, Jamison & Lewis 2007). One study argues that 'surgeons have always recognised the concept of a learning curve when undertaking a new procedure' and 'learning a new technique, even for an established consultant, requires some sort of learning curve' (Hasan, Pozzi & Hamilton 2000).

While learning curves are widely acknowledged in medicine, they have also been studied to a great extent. A review of learning curves in medicine published in the year 2000 found 559 articles fulfilling the inclusion criteria and published before April 1999 (Ramsay et al. 2000). In an industry like airplane manufacturing, the performance is rather easily measurable in terms of, for example, cost or production time, but assessing the performance of a clinician, hospital or a medical device is not as straightforward (Hopper, Jamison & Lewis 2007). The measures of performance in surgery can be classified into measures of the surgical process (e.g. operative time, blood loss, technical adequacy) and measures of patient outcome (e.g. morbidity, mortality) (Hopper, Jamison & Lewis 2007). Measures of the process are more often used because of the ease of implementation, but they are not necessarily directly related to patient outcomes (Ramsay et al. 2000).

According to a systematic review, the methods used in the investigation of learning curves under health technology assessment had only rarely formally assessed a learning curve (Ramsay et al. 2000). It has been shown that the methods used in the learning curve literature are weak and the reporting of the studies has a number of shortcomings (Ramsay et al. 2000). Presumably the learning curve literature has accumulated since the review was conducted, but there exists no data on the amount of literature and, consequently, the methodological quality of the literature that analyses learning effects has not been systematically evaluated.

The systematic review of Ramsay et al. (2000) collected studies on learning curves in medicine up to April 1999, with two papers on TJR included. For this thesis, published studies on learning curves dealing with techniques and devices related to THR and TKR were searched for in PubMed and Google Scholar. In total, 47 studies were identified and included in this thesis (Table 1). Only two studies were identified that were published prior to the year 2000, and both of these were also included in the work of Ramsay et al. (2000). The bibliography of Ramsay et al. (2000) that was examined after the literature search provided no additional studies that handled arthroplasty or related procedures.

#### Table 1. Identified learning curve studies related to total hip and knee replacement.

Authors	Year	Joint	Object	Measures of learning
Abane et al.	2015	Knee	Patient-specific	Mechanical axis, component
			instrumentation	positioning, operating time, Knee
				Society and Oxford knee scores,
				blood loss, length of hospital stay
Archibeck et	2004	Hip	Surgical	Operative time, fluoroscopy time,
al.			technique	complications
Berend et al.	2011	Hip	Hip resurfacing	Complication rate, types of
Calleabar at	4000	1.15-4	localent ture	Complications, and outcomes
Callagnan et	1992	нр	тирапт туре,	femoral fit, acetabular cup angle,
aı.				voor dinical hin ratinge dinical
				symptoms
Cheng et al	2011	Knee	TKR	Infection mortality
Chinnappa et	2015	Knee	Patient-specific	Operative time and post-operative
al.			instrumentation	multi-planar alignments
Cobb et al.	2007	Hip	Computer-	Accuracy of implantation
		•	assisted	
			surgery	
Confalonieri et	2012	Knee	Computer-	Frequency of errors in intraoperative
al.			assisted	bone cuts and implant alignment, and
			surgery	operative time
Daniilidis &	2014	Knee	Patient-specific	Component alignment
Tibesku			instrumentation	
D'Arrigo et al.	2009	Hip	Surgical	Blood loss, functional scores,
			technique	complication rate
Daubresse et	2005	Knee	Computer-	Postoperative leg coronal alignment
al.			assisted	
	0015		surgery	<b>B</b> · · ·
de Steiger et	2015	Нір	Surgical	Revision
al.	2006	Llin		Device examplications and
Fiamme et al.	2000	пр	INK	postoporativo radiographs
Govtia et al	2012	Hip	Surgical	Surgical and fluoroscopy times
	2012	ιıρ	technique	estimated blood loss intraoperative
			.soninquo	and postoperative complications
				patient comorbidities, component
				position, and leg-length discrepancy

Hamilton et al.	2010	Knee	Surgical technique	Revision and reoperation rates
Jablonski et al.	2009	Hip	Surgical technique	Intraoperative complications
Jenny et al.	2008	Knee	Computer- assisted surgery	Implantation accuracy, clinical outcome, operation time and complications
Jiménez- Cristóbal et al.	2011	Knee	Surgical technique	Hospitalisation in days, radiological angles, length of incision, tourniquet time, complications, Hospital for Special Surgery (HSS) score, haemoglobin values and need for blood transfusion
Kashyap et al.	2009	Knee	Surgical technique	Oxford Knee Score, Knee Society Score, alignment, complications
King et al.	2007	Knee	Surgical technique	Operative time, implant alignment, and clinical outcomes
Laffosse et al.	2006	Hip	Surgical technique	Implant positioning, intraoperative complications, revision
Lee et al.	2014	Hip	Surgical technique	Cup positioning
Lubowitz et al.	2007	Knee	Surgical technique	Operative time
Maniar et al.	2011	Knee	Computer- assisted surgery	Alignment of the mechanical axis and femoral and tibial components
Manzotti et al.	2010	Knee	Computer- assisted surgery	Errors in intraoperative bone cuts and implant alignment, postoperative frontal femoral component angle, frontal tibial component angle, hip- knee-ankle angle and component slopes
Melman et al.	2015	Hip	Surgical technique	Technical complication rate and operating time
Mohaddes et al.	2016	Hip	Implant type	Revision
Müller et al.	2014	Hip	Surgical technique	Implant positioning, revision
Nicholson et al.	2013	Knee	TKR	Mechanical axis
Nunley et al.	2010	Hip	Hip resurfacing	Early complications
Pogliacomi et al.	2012	Нір	Surgical technique	Operation and hospitalisation times, blood loss, number of transfusions, peri-operative complications and

				femoral/acetabular component placement were monitored
Rasuli & Gofton	2015	Hip	Surgical technique	Operative time
Redmond et al.	2015	Hip	Computer- assisted surgery	Component position, operative time, and complications
Romanowski & Swank	2008	Hip	Computer- assisted surgery	Intraoperative femoral and acetabular component parameters were compared with postoperative radiographic alignment values. Within this single surgeon series, operative time, intraoperative cup inclination and femoral stem-shaft angles, and postoperative cup inclination and femoral stem-shaft angles were measured
Saithna & Dekker	2009	Hip	Computer- assisted surgery	Literature review
Salai et al.	1997	Hip	THR	Harris Hip score
Sansone & de Gama Malcher	2004	Knee	Implant type	Knee Society Score, complications
Santini & Raut	2008	Knee	Implant type	Revision, aseptic loosening, loose joint
Schnurr et al.	2011	Knee	Computer- assisted surgery	Operation time
Seng et al.	2009	Hip	Surgical technique	Operation time, blood loss
Seyler et al.	2008	Hip	Computer- assisted surgery	Accuracy of positioning the femoral component was analyzed radiographically
Smith et al.	2010	Knee	Computer- assisted surgery	Alignment, Oxford score, mechanical axis and range of movement
Spaans et al.	2012	Hip	Surgical technique	Blood loss, clinical outcome, complication rate, revision
Stiehler et al.	2015	Hip	Computer- assisted surgery	Precision of femoral component positioning, notching, and oversizing rate, as well as operative time

Thorey et al.	2009	Hip	Computer-	Intraoperative acetabular component
			assisted	parameters (inclination, anteversion),
			surgery	operating and anesthesia times
Van Oldenrijk	2013	Hip	Surgical	Duration and efficiency of individual
et al.			technique	actions
Zhang et al.	2014	Knee	Implant type	Duration of surgery, blood loss, Hospital for Special Surgery score, range of motion, complications, and the radiographical position of the implant

From the author's literature search it can be concluded that analyses of learning curves in arthroplasty have increased since the year 2000, as at least altogether 45 studies have been published in the 21st century. Between 2000 and 2009, 18 studies were published. Twenty-seven of the included studies have been published since the beginning of 2010, suggesting an increasing publishing rate. This may reflect increased interest in the learning curve in arthroplasty, or it may be a result of an accelerated introduction of new surgical techniques or devices. The full bibliographic details of the studies included in Table 1 are given in Appendix 1.

The works presented in Table 1 show that studies on learning curves in TJR have mostly dealt with surgical technique, patient-specific instrumentation or computer-assisted surgery. An early study in THR showed that there is a learning curve for a surgeon when starting their career (Callaghan et al. 1992). Since then, a number of studies have evaluated individual surgeon's learning curve in both hip and knee arthroplasties when a new technology has been implemented. The measures that have been used to assess the learning curve show a wide range of methods for quantifying the learning. The published papers do not always explicitly state the number of surgeons that had performed the surgeries, but at least in 16 of the included studies a single surgeon had performed the surgeries. Similarly, the methods for including the patients in the studies were not always fully described. In at least 20 studies the material consisted of some kind of consecutive series of patients in a single institution. Only three of the studies were register-based (Cheng, Cheng & Chen 2011, de Steiger, Lorimer & Solomon 2015, Mohaddes et al. 2016) and one was a multi-centre study (Jenny, Miehlke & Giurea 2008).

All the identified studies suggest that there is some learning curve in the technique or technology investigated. Some studies have quantified the learning curve in the number of surgeries or as time in months needed to perform in order to become proficient in the technique or technology. The range in the number of surgeries varied from 10 (Lubowitz, Sahasrabudhe & Appleby 2007) to more than 100 (Nunley et al. 2010).

Two studies were identified that assessed specific implant types in conventional arthroplasty and evaluated the learning curve associated with the introduction of the implants. In the first of these studies, Sansone and da Gama Malchèr (2004) analysed the first 110 consecutive knees operated on between 1991 and 1995. In the follow-up (range 5–9 years) four cases required revision surgery for causes specifically related to the implant and three were revised for other reasons. The revised cases were all such that they were operated on during the first three years of the surgeons' experience, and the authors concluded that there is a learning curve with this implant. The surgeries they analysed were not performed in the early stage of the career of an orthopaedic surgeon. Thus, this study can also be considered as an investigation in which the learning curves associated with the introduction of a new device are being analysed.

In the second implant-specific study that did not involve a change in surgical technique or computer-assisted navigation by Santini & Raut (2008), 99 of the first TKRs of a surgeon were included. In the long-term follow-up (average 8 years and 8 months) four patients were revised, and three of the revisions occurred in the first six patients operated upon. The authors concluded that a learning curve may exist when a surgeon is starting his or her career.

One study showed that for a surgeon experienced in conventional TKR, switching back to conventional TKR after a series of TKRs performed with computer-assisted navigation, a learning curve of 30 surgeries was necessary to obtain a good implant alignment (Nicholson, Trofa & Smith 2013). This idea is close to the idea of the present thesis, as it depicts the learning curve after switching technology in conventional TJR surgery.

No studies were identified that had analysed the learning curve possibly associated with the introduction of an implant in a hospital and had been published prior to the author's studies. An institutional learning curve, i.e. the improvement of surgical results in THR over time as experience of the procedure has been gained, has been suggested in literature (e.g. (Salai et al. 1997)). Related to this kind of institutional learning curve is the idea of a relationship between the surgical volume of a hospital and the outcome of surgery, also suggesting a learning effect depending on the experience (e.g. (Cheng, Cheng & Chen 2011)).

# 2.4 LAUNCH AND CLOSURE OF HOSPITALS AND UNITS

In Finland, the health service network is mostly organized by the public sector. There are, in addition to the public providers, a number of private providers, although the private producers are small volume actors and their share of the market in specialized health care is rather modest. In arthroplasty, however, there is one private hospital that performs a significant number of TJRs. The network performing TJR has remained rather stable in the past 20 years, while some units have closed and others

have launched TJR activity over time. In the future, the publicly funded hospital network performing TJRs may experience major changes, as there is pressure to concentrate the services into units with bigger annual volumes. This would naturally lead to closures of some units. On the other hand, the need for TJR has been projected to increase and the number of surgeries to grow in Finland (Mäkelä et al. 2010, Skyttä et al. 2011, Pamilo et al. 2015), thus also making it possible to launch new surgical units. It is natural to think that changes in the organization of care may have consequences on the quality of care given for the last patients in the closed units as well as for the first patients in the newly launched units. For hospital managers and health policy makers, information about these consequences is important. However, reliable scientific data on this is scarce.

The effects of hospital closure have been analysed from a number of points of view. In the health economics literature, it has been shown that hospital closures reduce health care costs, although they also reduce the welfare of the patients living close to the hospital that is closed (Capps, Dranove & Lindrooth 2010). Lindrooth et al. (2003) (Lindrooth, Lo Sasso & Bazzoli 2003) have shown that the hospitals that were closed were inefficient compared to the remaining hospitals, and therefore the closures have led to a decline in the average cost per admission. In a study dealing with closures of nursing homes, the quality of care was found to be lower in the units that had been closed (Castle 2005).

Thus, it should be taken into account that there may be selection regarding closures of units performing TJR. The closed units may have had a lower quality of care and they may have been inefficient in their production. In addition, it should be kept in mind that the reasons behind hospital closures and launches may be different across different health care systems.

When a hospital is closed, the distance to the nearest hospital in the population at hand may change, and this may have consequences for the population health or mortality, but the results are conflicting. For example, in one study increased mortality due to heart attacks and unintentional injuries after hospital closure has been found (Buchmueller, Jacobson & Wold 2006). Another study that identified 195 hospital closures in the US found no significant difference in annual mortality of populations in the areas affected by hospital closures, nor in all-cause mortality rates following hospitalization (Joynt et al. 2015). A Canadian study concluded that hospital closures led to more favourable outcomes in coronary artery bypass grafting patients (Hemmelgarn, Ghali & Quan 2001).

A number of studies have investigated how financial pressure on hospitals has influenced the care given to patients. For example, reductions in service intensity and length of stay in hospital have been found (Hadley, Zuckerman & Feder 1989, Dranove, White 1998). Shen (2003) (Shen 2003) showed that financial pressure was associated with an increase in the adverse short-term outcomes in patients suffering from acute myocardial infarction. A contracting economy and financial pressure may also lead to cuts in a hospital's investments in equipment and maintenance. The consequences of diminished net patient revenues on hospital infrastructure and processes supporting the delivery of care in a hospital have been studied in the USA, and the authors suggest that as a consequence of these cuts the quality of care may have deteriorated (Bazzoli et al. 2007). In another study, Encinosa and Bernard (2005) (Encinosa, Bernard 2005) showed that declining hospital operating margins had an adverse effect on patient safety indicators related to surgery.

Although the consequences of increased financial pressure on hospitals have been investigated, to my best knowledge, no studies have been carried out to analyse the effects of hospital or unit closure on the quality of care that would have used the last treated patients' quality of care as the outcome. As there is a learning curve for an individual surgeon when starting surgery with a new surgical technique, there might be an institutional learning curve when TJR surgery is launched in a unit. Variations in the quality of an activity might appear when a specific treatment is launched or when it is being discontinued in a hospital.

It is known that good teamwork is important for good quality care (e.g. Manser 2009, Bosch et al. 2009, Weaver et al. 2010, Leonard, Frankel 2011). When a new procedure is launched in a hospital, the operating team needs education and learning-by-doing to achieve better performance. In TJR, operating room teamwork plays a major role in good quality of care, with communication within the team being especially important (Wong et al. 2009, Kellett, Mackay & Smith 2012, Van Strien et al. 2011). Therefore, successful recruitment and team-building may have an impact on the quality of care. Teams performing replacement surgery may have a learning curve too (Reagans, Argote & Brooks 2005).

In labour economics it is hypothesized that when it is announced that a plant is to be closed or downsized to a large extent, the most skilled workers leave the company before the closure happens. Thus, when a unit performing arthroplasty announces it is to be shut down (or that the performing of arthroplasty in the unit will cease), the surgeons, nurses or other members of the orthopaedic teams are in danger of becoming redundant. Some of the team members, presumably the most skilled ones, are likely to seek employment in other units. This extra turnover, or even lack of skilled personnel (it may be hard to find replacements with temporary contracts), may cause the quality of the care given by the team to deteriorate, leading to a compromising of the quality of the treatment and worsening patient outcomes.

During hospital or unit closures, the operating room team members might lose motivation or find employment elsewhere, affecting the quality of care (Cavanagh 1989, Cummings, Estabrooks 2003, Misra-Hebert, Kay & Stoller 2004, Buchan 2010). A review of studies analysing the effects of hospital consolidations on the quality of care found conflicting results between the concentration of care and the quality of care (Vogt, Town & Williams 2006). Of the 10 reviewed studies, five found that for some procedures, a concentration in the hospital market reduced quality, four studies found the opposite and three studies found no effect between concentration of care and the quality of care.

## **3 THE AIM OF THE RESEARCH**

The study questions and the hypotheses set in this thesis were as follows:

1. To assess the learning curve associated with the introduction of new total hip and knee implants in a hospital. To meet this aim, I asked whether the first patients operated on with any new implant type in a hospital had a higher revision rate than patients whose implants were routinely used in the hospital. As a secondary analysis, the risk of early revision owing to characteristics related to the operation, patient, and hospital were investigated.

2. To study if in total hip and knee replacement, the learning curves were dependent on the implant model, i.e. if some implants are easier and safer to take into use than others. Using Cox proportional hazards regression modelling and data on THR and TKR surgeries with the ten most common implant models in Finland, the implant model specific learning curves were quantified with outcome measured as the risk of early revision surgery. In addition, for the analysed knee implant models, an analysis of the three-, five-, and ten-year survivorship was performed. In THR, analysis of the differences between femoral stem and acetabular cup models in the early revision risk during the implementation phase was made by focusing on the ten most common stem and cup pairs in the data.

3. To study the learning curve associated with the launch of a TJR unit and the effects of a TJR unit closure on the quality of care in the last performed surgeries. In the hospital launch and closure study it was hypothesized that (1) the early revision risk after THR and TKR is not significantly different for the first patients operated on in a launched unit and that (2) the early revision risk after THR and TKR is not significantly different for the first patients operated on in a closing unit from the early revision risk following these operations in the same units during a stable production phase.

# 4 DATA AND METHODS

## 4.1 HEALTH CARE REGISTER DATA

Finland has a long tradition in administrative health care data, as the routine nationwide collection of hospital discharge data was started in 1967 (Sund 2012). In 1969, personal identity codes (PIC) were introduced in the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register (FHDR), and FHDR data since that year are nowadays accessible in electronic format (Sund 2012). The PIC enables the linkage of FHDR records of the same person and makes it possible to follow health service use over time. In addition, as the PIC is included in other administrative register data available in Finland as well, the records of a person can be linked between different registers. Typically, FHDR data is linked with data from other register data when large research databases are created (e.g. Peltola et al. 2011). The Finnish register data covering the use of health care services and prescribed medication have been well described elsewhere (e.g. Gissler, Haukka 2004). These register data have been used in a great number of scientific peer-reviewed publications.

In this study, the two most important registers used were the FHDR and the Finnish Arthroplasty Register (FAR). Both these registers are currently maintained by the National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL). In addition to these, register data on special reimbursements of medicine (since 1964) and prescribed medicine (since 1996), both administered by the Social Insurance Institution (SII), and cause of death statistics by Statistics Finland were utilized.

Each visit to or a stay in an institute in Finland providing specialised health care is recorded in the FHDR. Collecting and reporting the data to THL is mandatory, and all the institutions located in Finland have to provide the data annually to the FHDR. The key data content of the FHDR are the dates of admission and discharge, the PIC of the patient, and the institution where the person was treated. In addition, diagnoses and procedures for each hospital stay or visit are recorded. Sund (2008) has noted that 'hospital admission and discharge days are easily observable facts [...] which are correctly and completely recorded in the Finnish data.' In this study, the empirical work is based on these facts, and the diagnoses and procedure codes included in the FHDR are used in a supporting role.

In 1980, the Finnish Orthopaedic Association started registration of TJRs in Finland. The main purpose was to assess and ensure the quality of the implants, for the patients' benefit. A few years later, in 1987, the management of the register was transferred to national authorities. At first, the registration of TJRs was voluntary, but it became obligatory in 1997 (Puolakka et al. 2001) so that all units, both private and public, performing

TJR in Finland had to report their surgeries to the FAR. Both primary and secondary TJRs are included in the FAR.

PIC is also used in FAR, and the two data are thus easily linkable at the individual level. FAR includes information on the date, joint, and side of surgery, the cause for surgery and unit where the surgery was performed at. In addition, component names and fixation methods are given in FAR. The form used in the registration for hip and knee replacements for the period that the current study is based on is given in Puolakka et al. (2001). The contents of the FAR have recently been updated and enriched, and the registration process has been fully automatized in 2015, having been synchronized with an online reporting platform.

A systematic review conducted in 2012 that gathered all published studies assessing the validity of the FHDR found that the coverage, reliability and positive predicted value of the FHDR are good (Sund 2012). In the review, 32 studies that had compared the FHDR with external audit data were identified. The FHDR has not been validated on TJR specifically. A validation study covering hip fracture has been conducted, where the coverage, sensitivity, and positive predicted value were all evaluated to be 98 %, indicating that the register data on a surgical treatment in the FHDR is of a very high standard (Sund et al. 2007). Regarding the register of prescribed medicine, the concordance between the database and self-reported medication has been found to be high (Haukka et al. 2007). The validity of the cause of death statistics has also been reported to be reliable (Pajunen et al. 2005).

There have been no studies that would have scientifically assessed the validity of the FAR. In the early 1990s, the average registration of surgeries in the FAR has been found to vary significantly between hospitals, and at the turn of the millennium the overall completeness was estimated to be 95 % (Puolakka et al. 2001). According to the online publication of the FAR, the completeness of the FAR has been more than 90 % for both primary and revision surgeries between 2008 and 2013 (ENDOnet, https://www2.thl.fi/endo/report/#data/completeness, accessed on December 21, 2015). Regarding the content of the register, the FAR requires input on implant components, and in the case of missing information attempts are made to retrieve information manually (Jämsen et al. 2009). In a study by Jämsen et al. (2009), the primary TKRs in FAR could be paired with supplementing data in FHDR in over 95 % of the cases and for about 91 % of the revision surgeries.

# 4.2 INNOVATION: CHRONOLOGICAL USE OF REGISTER DATA

In the present thesis, studies I–IV were all based on the chronological use of data from both the FHDR and the FAR. The data allow an ordering of the

surgeries in time, starting from either the first or the last, and thus the surgeries can be assigned order numberings. Using the content of the registers, the data can be arranged chronologically in various ways. For example, using data on all primary TJRs in Finland, with data on the date of the primary surgery and the unit performing the operation, the order numbers of primary TJRs can be issued for each hospital separately. The ordering of data by date makes it possible to easily identify the first and last events. Adding dimensions to the ordering, it is possible to identify the first operations performed with a certain implant model in a hospital.

By including all TJRs, it is possible to define the order number of all TJRs in a hospital. The order numbers can as easily be defined separately for THR and TKR as well. With utilization of information on the implant model, the order numbering in a hospital can be extended to be implant-specific. It should be noted, that as said above, the dates and the places (unit) can be considered facts, as they are easy to define and measure. This simple innovation of chronological use of register data is a strength of the approach.

## 4.3 DEFINITION OF IMPLANT INTRODUCTION

Chronological ordering of the surgeries combined with data on the implant components used in the operation makes it possible to number all the different components for all TJRs in each hospital separately. From such ordering, the first surgeries with a new implant to the hospital are easily identified. In studies I–III, data on these component-specific order numbers was used to identify the introductions of new components to a hospital. A component was considered to have been introduced in a hospital if it had not been used in the same hospital earlier.

When performing TJR in Finland, in TKR the femoral and tibial components are only rarely mixed. However, in THR the mixing of femoral and acetabular components is much more common (Section 5.1, ibid). In the studies included in the present thesis, each component was issued an order number in each hospital, and the component pairs were taken into account when defining the order number for the component pair.

When there are two components used, and each component can have its own order number, the pair can have two possibly different order numbers. In THR the pair consisting of femoral and acetabular components, and in TKR, the pair of femoral and tibial components were used in defining the pair-specific order numbers. In the studies concerning TKR (studies I and III), the pair-specific order number that was used in the analysis of learning curves was based on the minimum order number of the component order numbers in the pair, i.e. the assumption made was that when a new component was introduced in a pair, it was considered to be a new implant introduction. In study II that dealt with THR, the analyses were made using both the minimum and the maximum of the component order numbers in a
pair. When the maximum order number of the components in the pair is used as the basis for the order numbering of the pair, it is assumed that the more familiar component gives confidence to the surgeon and the component that is less used in the hospital is dominated by the more familiar component.

#### 4.4 DEFINITIONS OF UNIT LAUNCH AND CLOSURE

Chronological arranging of TJR data as described above was the fundamental building block in the analysis of the effects that institutional learning curves and closure had on the quality of surgery. Definitions of launched and closed units were developed on the basis of the TJR data arranged chronologically. First, a unit that had started to perform TJR in Finland between the years 1998 and 2011 was defined to be a launched unit. The launch stage was defined as consisting of the first 100 TJRs performed in the unit. A unit that had not performed TJR in the preceding year but had performed TJR earlier was also defined as having launched TJR. So, a unit may have more than one launch of TJR over time. This kind of re-launch was considered to be a launch of TJR since a year's gap in TJR performance may be long enough for the surgical team to have disbanded, the team's skills and communication to have deteriorated, or the personnel in the team to have changed.

Similarly, TJR surgeries in each unit were given order numbers from the last surgery to the first, in order to identify the last patients operated on in a unit. Units that had totally discontinued TJR in the period 1998 to 2011, or that had not performed TJR in some calendar year during the period, were defined as closed units.

Within the launched and closed units, TJR surgeries were arranged chronologically and issued order numbers. With these order numbers, the first 100 and the last 100 TJRs in a unit were identified. When a unit was launched, the first 100 TJRs were defined to constitute the early stage of operation (i.e. the launch stage). Similarly, for the closed units the last 100 TJRs were defined as having been performed in the closure stage of the unit. This pre-set choice of the first or last 100 TJRs was not based on literature or data mining with the available study data, but was arbitrary.

#### 4.5 DATA AND METHODS IN STUDIES I-IV

The register data used in the thesis has origins in the PERFECT (Performance, effectiveness and cost of treatment episodes) project (Häkkinen 2011). In PERFECT, all the primary TJRs performed due to primary osteoarthritis have been included from the year 1998 onwards in a national database that is used for benchmarking of units performing THR and TKR in Finland (Mäkelä et al. 2011). In THR, hip resurfacing is excluded

from the database. The principles of data processing and the inclusion and exclusion criteria for THR and TKR are described elsewhere (Mäkelä et al. 2011, Peltola et al. 2011). In brief, TJR surgeries are identified in the FHDR, and then data from the FHDR is complemented with data from the FAR, SII and Statistic Finland's cause of death statistics databases. The database is surgery-specific, i.e. an individual may have several primary TJRs (observations) in the data. For each surgery of an individual, there is a follow-down and follow-up for comorbid diseases (see e.g. Jämsen et al. 2013), and for previous and later primary TJRs and revisions. Ålandians and foreigners have been excluded, since their hospital service use cannot be reliably tracked with Finnish registers only. Table 2 summarizes the main feature of data in the Studies I–IV.

Study number	Surgery	Years covered	Number of observations
I	TKR	1998-2004	27 105
II	THR	1998-2007	39 125
	TKR	1998-2007	46 363
IV	THR, TKR	1998-2011	150 038

**Table 2.**Summary of data in Studies I-IV.

For the studies included in the thesis, revision surgery was the measure of quality. In Study I, a follow-up of five years was used to track the revisions of the primary surgeries, while in the other studies a follow-up of three years was applied. Revisions are considered to be reliably recorded in the used registers, while in register-based TJR research they are an accepted outcome measure (e.g. Robertsson 2007, Serra-Sutton et al. 2009). Revisions were tracked from both the FAR and the FHDR. In all the studies, reoperations due to exchange or removals of implants were defined as revisions. In addition, in TKR, the insertion of a patellar component after the primary surgery was considered to be a revision. This definition is slightly wider than normally used for TKR and may thus result in a somewhat greater number of revisions.

In studies I–III that dealt with the introduction of implants in a hospital, the surgeries were classified using the order number into five groups: Group A (first 15 surgeries), Group B (surgeries 16 to 30), Group C (surgeries 31 to 50), Group D (surgeries 51 to 100), and Group E (surgeries with order number greater than 100). In these studies, the surgeries in Group A to D were compared to the surgeries in Group E. The surgeries performed with an order number greater than 100 (Group E) were considered to be performed in 'established practice', i.e. at the plateau of the learning curve. In the study of TJR launches and closures, the first and last 100 TJRs in the launched or closed units were compared to surgeries in the same units after the launch stage or before the closure stage.

All studies used Cox's proportional hazard regression modelling to compare the groups. With this modelling technique, the censoring of cases due to death and timing of the revision were taken into account and the time in days from the primary surgery to the revision surgery or censoring was used as the dependent variable. In addition, with Cox's regression modelling, it is possible to adjust for confounding factors. In the studies, a number of confounders were used, for example, fixation technique, comorbid diseases, year of surgery, and patient age and sex.

# 5 RESULTS

This chapter first gives some novel unpublished results characterizing the hip and knee implant market in Finland and then summarizes the results of the four studies included in the thesis.

#### 5.1 DESCRIPTIVE RESULTS ON THE IMPLANT MARKET IN FINLAND BETWEEN 1980 AND 2013

The number of TJRs has steadily increased in Finland since 1980. The growth in the number of operations has been greater in TKR, and the annual number of TKR surpassed THR in 2002 (Figure 1). In 2013, 8943 primary THR and 10 596 primary TKR surgeries were performed. In the same year, 1730 hip revisions and 836 knee revisions were done.

In these primary TJRs in Finland, a far larger number of different implants have been used in THR than in TKR. In 2013, there were more than 50 acetabulum and femoral components used in THR (Figure 2), whereas TKRs were performed with 22 femur and 23 tibia components (Figure 3).

In THR, the number of acetabulum and femur combinations peaked in 2011, with 285 different implant combinations (Figure 2). Regarding the combinations of cups and stems used in primary THR in Finland between the years 1980 and 2013 there were altogether 1735 different acetabulum and femur pairs used in the primary THRs in the data. The number of implant combinations in THR has decreased since 2011. In 2013 there were 236 different femur and acetabulum pairs observed in the primary THR surgeries.

The annual numbers of implant model introductions by component for both THR and TKR are shown in Figure 4, and Figure 5 gives the annual numbers of pairwise introductions.



Figure 1 The number of primary and revision total hip and knee replacements in Finland as reported in the Finnish Arthroplasty Register in the period 1982 to 2013.



Figure 2 The number of acetabulum and femur implants and their combinations in primary total hip replacement in Finland in the period 1980 to 2013.





Figure 3 The number of acetabulum and femur implants and their combinations in primary total hip replacement in Finland in the period 1980 to 2013.



Figure 4 Introductions of new acetabulum, femur and tibia components in primary total hip and knee replacement in Finland in the period 1980 to 2013.



Figure 5 The number of introductions of new implant pairs in primary total hip and knee replacement in Finland in the period 1980 to 2013.

#### 5.2 LEARNING CURVE IN TOTAL HIP AND KNEE REPLACEMENT

Studies I and III assessed if there was a general learning curve when introducing hip and knee implant models in a hospital.

Between 1 January, 1998, and 31 December, 2007, 33 819 patients with 39 125 THRs were included in the final study data to assess if there was a learning curve when new hip implant models were introduced in a hospital. Altogether 1269 revisions were performed on these patients during a 3-year follow-up period. In the 10-year study period, 96 stem models and 85 cup models were used in these surgeries, and these components were used in 467 different combinations, i.e. forming different stem and cup pairs. A large share of the stem and cup models had been used in a small number of operations. In total, 62 out of the 96 stem models and 47 of the 85 cup models had been used in less than 100 surgeries in the study data, accounting only about 3 % of the THRs.

In the study period, 87 stem and 79 cup models were introduced in at least one hospital, and these introductions contributed to 5967 surgeries in the first stage of the implant introduction (the first 15 THRs with an implant model in a hospital). Of all the studied surgeries, almost one in six was performed in the first stage of introduction.

In analysis concerning the existence of a learning curve in general in THR implant model introductions in hospitals it was found that the first 15 operations had a higher risk for early revision for the order numbering of both stem and cup models, and for the combined order numbering as well (hazard ratio 1.3, 95 % confidence interval 1.1-1.5). As a result, In THR, there appears to be a learning curve due to the introduction of a new stem or cup model.

For the analysis of the overall learning curves at the introduction of a new knee implant model in a hospital, all primary TKRs performed due to primary osteoarthritis in Finland between January 1, 1998 and December 31, 2004, having complete data on implant models were analysed. The data comprised 22 551 individuals with 27 105 TKRs. In the five-year follow-up, 1000 revisions were performed on these patients. Over the period, 27 tibial and 34 femoral implant models were introduced in the study population. In total, 66 surgical units took new knee implant models into use, adding up to 339 implant model introductions at the hospital level, affecting altogether 5085 patients undergoing TKR in the introductory phase (the first 15 surgeries with an implant model) in these hospitals.

When adjusted for all baseline characteristics, the patients operated on in the introductory phase had a 1.5-fold risk (95 % confidence interval 1.1-1.9) for revision surgery when compared with patients that received an implant that had been used at least in 100 TKRs in the hospital. The risk for revision surgery was not elevated in patients numbered 16–30, 31–50, or 51–100 operated on in the next stages of implant use in a hospital, indicating that the learning curve smoothed rapidly.

In the study, the characteristics of the patients being among the first 15 patients having TKR in a hospital and the patients operated on with an implant that had been used at least 100 times in the hospital showed differences. The patients among the first 15 TKRs were slightly older and were more likely females than patients having surgery with implant model used routinely.

# 5.3 LEARNING CURVES OF THE MOST COMMON IMPLANTS

Studies II and III included model-specific analyses of the learning curves. For both total hip and knee replacements, the ten most common implant models that were used in Finland were included in the studies.

In order to find out if the learning effect in TKR was implant model specific, all 54 925 patients undergoing a total of 66 098 primary knee replacements due to primary osteoarthritis between January 1, 1998 and December 31, 2007 in Finland were identified. With these data the ten most common total knee implant models used were identified, and 39 528 patients who received these implant models in 46 363 TKRs were included in the analysis. The patients were followed up for three years.

The top ten knee implant models in Finland were used in more than two thirds of all the primary total knee replacements that were performed in Finland in the study period. The most common femoral implant was used in almost every third surgery in the data. With the ten most common knee implant models, 2493 surgeries were performed in the introductory phase of an implant during the study period.

The statistical analyses supported the hypothesis that learning curves following the introduction of a new femoral or tibial implant model in hospital practice have model-specific differences. Out of the ten analysed models, four had a higher risk for early revision in the surgeries performed in the introductory phase of the implant. With these four implant models, the first 15 patients operated on, the risk of early revision was statistically significantly higher compared to the risk of revision of the same implant that had been used in the hospital in more than 100 knee surgeries. For one of the four implant models the learning curve affected the revision risk of the 30 first patients.

After the implementation phases hypothesized to influence implant survivorship of the first 100 patients operated on with an implant model introduced in a hospital due to the learning curve, the implant-specific revision risks were also analysed in established practice. Of the ten most common knee implant models, two models had a statistically significantly lower risk for revision in three years follow-up period than the most common implant. Three out of ten implants showed an increased risk of early revision in routine use.

Similarly, analyses of the ten most common stem and cup pairs used in THR in Finland were committed in order to analyse the pair-specific learning effect. From the THR data described in section 5.2, the ten most common stem and cup pairs were included in the model specific study. Altogether 22 271 primary total hip replacements performed due to osteoarthritis were included in the analysis. The stem and cup specific differences in the early revision risk for different stages of implant introduction were analysed compared to the operations with the same stem and cup pair having an order number greater than 100. These model-specific analyses showed that three pairs had an increased early revision risk at the first introductory phase.

#### 5.4 HOSPITAL LAUNCH AND CLOSURE

After applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria to the FHDR and FAR data, 150 038 TJRs were included in the study data. In total, 83 units reported THR and TKR to the FAR in the period 1998 to 2011. In this period, 19 units launched TJR in Finland; 8 of the launched units performed more than 200 surgeries. TJR was discontinued in 30 units, with 20 of these having a total volume of more than 200 TJRs since 1998 prior to unit closure. Of the included TJRs, 7678 were THR and 10 674 TKR surgeries performed in the units that had launched surgery. In the analysis of the revision risk at the closure stage, 10 650 THRs and 12 746 TKRs were included.

Results

The risk-adjusted three-year revision rates showed that units (with at least 100 surgeries in the individual-level data) varied in their patients' risk of revision, for both THR and TKR (Figure 6). The figure also suggests that a units' risk-adjusted revision rate in THR was not always on a par with its performance in TKR.



**Figure 6** Risk-adjusted 3-year revision rate with 95 % confidence interval for units that performed total joint replacements in the period 1998 to 2011 in Finland. Total hip and knee replacement shown separately, ordered by risk-adjusted total knee replacement revision rate.

The performance of THR in the launched units was average or better than average compared to all THR units. One of the launched TKR units showed a poorer performance than TKR units on average. In contrast, the closed THR and TKR units' performance was distributed across the whole spectrum of performance.

Launching THR or TKR surgery in a unit did not entail different implant survivorship in the early stage of functioning than surgeries after the early stage of functioning in these units. However, THRs performed in the closure stage showed worse implant survivorship than THRs prior to the closure stage. In TKR a similar increase in the revision risk at the closure stage was not found.

## 6 **DISCUSSION**

#### 6.1 MAIN RESULTS AND PREVIOUS LITERATURE

Introduction of a new total hip or knee implant in a hospital was found to be associated with a learning curve. On average, the first fifteen patients operated on with an implant that had not been used before in the hospital had an increased risk of early revision. This learning curve varies across both hip and knee implant models, as in the implant-specific studies, not all of the analysed implants showed a learning curve. Regarding the launch and closure of TJR surgery in a unit, it was found that in general the launches and closures were not associated with poor quality at the launch and closure stages, respectively, when compared to the units' performance outside these stages, with the exception of an increased risk of early revision in THR at the closure stage.

The works in the thesis present a completely novel approach to assessing the introduction of new technology and the changing of technology on a nationwide level. By including a number of different implants in the study, the selected implants' performance could be compared with each other, both in the introductory phase as well as in established practice. In addition, in the study settings the learning curves of different devices could be compared against each other.

The availability of administrative data enables the assessment of introductions of new medical devices and technology when the coding used to record diagnoses, procedures, or devices and surgical techniques allow for the identification of these new approaches. This thesis gives a practical example of how administrative data can also be applied in the analysis of the effects of restructuring hospital services or a treatment, such as TJR, on the outcomes of treatment in the different stages of production.

By applying this approach to the Finnish administrative data on TJR, novel results were produced regarding the introduction of implant models in hospitals and the launch and closure of TJR units. To my knowledge, this approach has not been used earlier in a register-based analysis of the effects of introducing new technology in health care on a level covering an entire population of patients and covering a relatively long period of time.

In orthopaedics, learning curves have been analysed to some extent, ranging from a system-level approach to the survivorship of implants over three decades or a system-level analysis of the effect of surgical volume on the learning curve (e.g. Salai et al. 1997, Robertsson et al. 2001, Cheng, Cheng & Chen 2011) to single-surgeon-based studies of operation time at the introduction of a new technique (e.g. Callaghan et al. 1992, Goytia, Jones & Hungerford 2012, King et al. 2007, Lubowitz, Sahasrabudhe & Appleby 2007, Melman et al. 2015). A large majority of the studies have used data

gathered in a single institution, and the surgeries included in these studies have typically been performed by the authors of the papers. According to my literature search (Table 1; bibliographies listed in Appendix 1), there have been two multi-centre studies (Abane et al. 2015, Jenny, Miehlke & Giurea 2008) and one randomized controlled trial without real patients (Cobb et al. 2007) that have focused on analysing the learning curve.

All of the identified 47 studies suggest that with the procedure that the studies were looking at, there was some kind of learning curve based on some used measure. However, quantifying the learning curve has been difficult and only a few of the included studies give a quantitative estimate of the learning curve, either as the number of surgeries or as the time needed for the performance to reach an acceptable level.

Within arthroplasty, most of the studies on the learning curves identified in this thesis have dealt with surgical technique, patient-specific instrumentation or computer-assisted surgery, whereas only four of the identified studies have assessed the learning curve of named implant types (Table 1). Of the identified studies, 26 had evaluated learning curve in relation to surgery of the hip joint and 20 surgery in relation to the knee joint. The most typical outcome measures were operative time, implantation accuracy, and blood loss. Eleven studies had assessed the risk of revision or reoperation, with a varying follow-up time from 1 month to 9 years, with six focusing on hip and five on knee joint (Archibeck, White 2004, Berend et al. 2011, de Steiger, Lorimer & Solomon 2015, Hamilton et al. 2010, Jenny, Miehlke & Giurea 2008, Laffosse et al. 2006, Muller, Zingg & Dora 2014, Sansone, da Gama Malcher 2004, Santini, Raut 2008, Zhang et al. 2014) replacement. In these studies, the number of patients was generally low, ranging from 50 to 479 in ten of the studies. In the study by de Steiger et al. (2015), Australian register data were used and the number of analysed cases was much greater, at 4138. In five studies, all the included cases were operated on by one surgeon. Other studies had data based on surgeries of 2, 3, 4, 13, and 49 surgeons, respectively, and in one study, the number of surgeons participating was unknown.

Of the identified studies using revision as the measure for learning curve, only the study by de Steiger et al. (2015) found a statistically significant relationship between revisions and the number of surgeries that needed to be performed for the learning effect to become attenuated. They found that the learning curve for performing THR with an anterior approach and an implant specifically meant for the approach was more than 50 cases. The other studies identified were not able to give a reliable estimate of the learning curve measured with revision surgery due to the low number of cases included in the studies. In the study by Archibeck et al. (2004), 479 surgeries performed by 49 surgeons were evaluated for revision, but as each surgeon had only reported ten first THRs with the two-incision technique, the study is not completely adequate for assessing the learning curve of this surgical technique. In a study by Hamilton et al. (2010), minimally invasive

unicompartmental knee replacement was analysed with data on 445 consecutive surgeries by four surgeons. They found that there was a learning curve of 30 cases for the operative time to reach a plateau, but they did not find a statistically significant learning curve measured with revision, although they concluded that revision rate decreased over time.

Finally, no studies were identified that would have assessed the learning curve quantified with a revision rate at the introduction of any new implants in a hospital with data from a number of hospitals or units. In addition, no studies were identified that would have had included more than one implant. Therefore, the works included in this thesis appear to be the first attempts to quantify the learning effect related to the introduction of any new device in a hospital and also to have assessed a number of implants in the same study.

The existence of learning curves has long been acknowledged, but attempts to assess the impact that learning curves would have on revision risk in TJR at the system level were not found. This thesis has set up a framework for how this kind of measuring could potentially be carried out. In addition, in this thesis the learning curves found were generated in routine clinical practice, contrary to studies based on a series of patients in a single hospital operated on by a single surgeon, and thus the results of this thesis are generalisable to other health care settings as well.

The existing literature relating to hospital launches and closures has, for example, analysed the effects of hospital closure on the use of emergency services of the patient population that the hospital has served in order to draw conclusions on the health effects of a concentration of health services. However, to my knowledge, this type of research has not looked at elective procedures like TJR, and the direct effects on quality of care of hospital launches on the first TJRs and closures on the last TJRs that a hospital has carried out have not been analysed previously. The study included in the present work dealing with unit closures showed that in some cases, a closure may lead to deteriorated patient outcomes in the last treated patients. However, there are no other studies on the topic dealing with TJR. Thus, there is room for more research on the effects of unit closures on the outcomes of care in TJR, and also regarding other procedures. The findings of the analyses of hospital launches and closures highlight that restructuring health care services needs careful planning and management.

The studies included in this thesis have received attention within the scientific community. In Australia, de Steiger et al. (2015) analysed with register data the learning curve associated with the anterior approach for THR, adopting the methodology presented in the studies of the thesis. They found that there is a learning curve in adopting a new surgical approach, and that the learning curve was more than 50 cases. In Sweden, Mohaddes et al. (2016) applied a similar approach described in this thesis with the Swedish register data. Contrary to this thesis's results concerning learning curve in THA in Finland, they found no increased risk of early revision associated to the implementation of new cup designs in THA.

In the Finnish recommendation on how to perform THR and TKR by the Finnish Arthroplasty Association, a chapter dealing with the introduction of new implants has been added to the 2015 version of the recommendation. It states that if a new implant is to be introduced, it should solve a problem that cannot be dealt with by a previously used device, it should be cheaper, or it should have better characteristics from a surgical or a maintenance point of view.

#### 6.2 LIMITATIONS AND STRENGTHS OF THE STUDIES

There are a number of limitations in the studies included in the thesis that deserve to be pointed out. The used registers did not include a time stamp of the surgeries, only the date of surgery. Therefore, if a unit performed more than one THR or TKR per diem, the order of these same-day surgeries of a joint is not known. However, the number of surgeries per day in an institution was relatively low in Finland, and as the order number was used as a classifier for surgeries, the uncertainty of order numbers from these surgeries is unlikely to have affected the results regarding learning curves.

Despite limitations the register data offer very rich possibilities for analysing learning effects. Individual surgeons' learning curves, if their identification is possible in the data, can be assessed – and not only with regards to an overall learning curve. New surgical techniques may be assessed if the classifications concerning the surgery are up to date. And, as in case of TJR, learning effects related to new medical devices can be assessed. In the present studies, the identification of the surgeons was not possible and this may have affected the results, as the surgeon's experience could not be taken into account.

In the analyses of implant-specific learning curves for new implant types, the amount of technical change with respect to the previously used implants in the hospital could not be quantified. However, the data on previously used implants in a hospital are available, and with careful but time-consuming expert input, the implant introductions could likely be classified into simple and challenging introductions. The findings may also suggest that there was patient selection; surgeons make patient selection when doing surgery with an implant model that they are inexperienced with. The differences in the observed characteristics were taken into account in the analysis, but there may be other patient characteristics that we were not able to control for that may have biased the analyses

Using revision as the measure of poor quality is susceptible to both supply and demand related factors. Not all patients with pain and disability after failed TJR are automatically revised, and the thresholds for revision may vary slightly across providers. Data on patients' body mass index and physical activity would also help in achieving more precise estimates of implant-specific learning curves, since these characteristics may have an influence on the choice of implant. The quality of bone stock, bone loss and degree of acetabular sclerosis in THR and deformity, instability and bone loss in TKR may also have an effect on the choice of implant for the patient, but this data were not available in the administrative data used.

In the analysis of the launch and closure of TJR units no detailed data on the hospital characteristics were available. In particular, it would be valuable to have data on operating room personnel and personnel turnover. This kind of data were unavailable in routine registers.

In both the implant-specific learning curve analyses and the analysis of TJR unit launches and closures, the number of observations available for analysis restricted the functional form of the learning curve. Especially in the hospital unit launch and closure study, the limit of 100 surgeries may be too restrictive, particularly regarding closures. The low number of launches and closures in the data limited the choice of learning curve definition for TJRs to be applied for the launch and closure stages. As shown in learning curve studies, the learning curve may be less than 20 cases, and thus the usage of 100 cases may mask the learning effect entailed in a unit launch. Instead of using order number of surgeries for each closure, the data would be preferably organized according to calendar dates of the announcement of the closure and the closure data, instead of using the arbitrary number of TJRs in the analysis.

A strength of all the studies is that they cover the entire number of TJRs performed due to osteoarthritis. Also, loss in follow-up was a very minor issue. It should be stressed the data arise from ordinary practice. Registers have gained popularity worldwide (e.g. in Australia, England and Wales, and in Germany, to give a few examples). The next logical step after having set up sub-national and national registries is to bring forth efforts to merge data in these local registers to enable more international work. An important example of this is the work by the Nordic Arthroplasty Register Association (NARA) to bring together data in the national registers of Denmark, Finland, Norway and Sweden.

#### 6.3 IMPLICATIONS

The findings have a number of implications for patients, surgeons, hospital managers and health policy makers. Patients are not always aware of the survivorship of implants they are offered by surgeons, and they are not necessarily informed about the history of the implant use in the hospital and by the surgeon who is to operate on the patient. The patients should have the right to know if they are to be operated on with a completely new device or a combination of components or during the learning curve stage.

Similarly, surgeons should be aware of the implant survivorship and learning curve related to the implant. The surgeons should not take into use new implants without strong scientific evidence of the superior performance of the device. When a surgeon is about to take a new implant or technique into use, she or he should carefully practice with, for example, cadavers or bone models and take part in training before performing surgery him- or herself with the new technology. Together with surgeons, hospitals should also take more responsibility over the implant selection they offer to their patients.

The regulation and processes for the introduction of implants to the orthopaedic market has been discussed a lot in the medical literature recently (e.g. (Nieuwenhuijse et al. 2014, Kesselheim, Avorn 2013, Kesselheim, Rajan 2014, Wilmshurst 2011, Curfman, Redberg 2011)). It has been argued that 'the standards for device approval and surveillance have fallen far below those for drugs' (Avorn 2010). The findings regarding the introduction of implants in this thesis support the critics' scepticism regarding the present approval processes and also the calls to develop them. Implant manufacturers should pay attention to safe introduction when designing and developing new implants and instrumentation, and ensure that there is sufficient training arranged for each surgeon prior to operating on patients with the new technology.

In the IDEAL (innovation, development, exploration, assessment and long-term study) recommendations for the safe introduction of surgical innovations, the importance of several stages of assessment has been emphasised (McCulloch et al. 2009). These principles should be strengthened and the approval processes for new medical devices should likewise follow these. The findings of the present thesis would not have been possible without register data, and the registers of medical devices should be perceived as an important means in the assessment and long-term evaluation stages.

In this work, some introduced implants were shown to have a learning curve during which the implantations failed more often than those made in the established practice phase of implant usage in a hospital. However, if the devices with a learning curve are superior to the existing devices in the longterm following comparison with the implantations in the established practice, there is a trade-off between risking the first patients and the better survivorship of the patients operated on when sufficient experience has accumulated. In the orthopaedic community it should be debated how this trade-off should be addressed and what kinds of learning curves are acceptable.

Research on the effects of hospital unit launches and closures on the quality of care is a completely novel topic in orthopaedics. The topic is very relevant especially for nations with a public health care system where health policy makers make the decisions on resource allocation. However, launches and closures are also of importance to patients when they are about to use the services in these units at stages when there may be turbulence in the production of services. Especially if the patients do not have the possibility to choose the provider, they should be aware of whether the quality of the

services is affected by organizational changes. There are published recommendations on how to manage hospital downsizing and closures. When in such a situation, the decision-makers and managers should pay attention to this literature (see e.g. van der Wal, Bouthillette & Havlovic 1998, Davis, Savage & Stewart 2003).

#### 6.4 SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

Learning curves have been analysed to a great extent in the medical literature, covering many specialties. However, the methodology has suffered from a number of deficits, as most of the studies are dealing with a single physician or are based on consecutive patients in a single hospital (Ramsay et al. 2000). This thesis extends basis for the analysis of learning curves to cover nationwide data. The approach of the thesis acknowledges that real-life data is very valuable in the analysis of learning curves, as in evidence-based medicine (Malmivaara 2013).

This thesis has applied real-life data available in Finland. Although the studies included are thought to have results that are generalizable to other health care settings, it is preferable that in countries with similar data available, the methods applied in the thesis are implemented. Replication of the studies in other health care settings would increase knowledge of the learning effect in TJR, and support or dispute the hypotheses set out and the results achieved in this work. Debate around learning curves would be beneficial to medical professionals and patients alike.

The approach developed in this work could be introduced in other countries with register databases on arthroplasty so as to study implant models not used in Finland, or models that were not among the most used implants in the present work and thus their learning curves were not evaluated. The worldwide market for hip and knee implants is extensive, with hundreds of implant models in both hip and knee replacement and these works have only touched upon the surface. More implant models should be analysed for their learning curves. The studies of named implant models included only a few models, 10 of the most common hip and knee prostheses. The research method could be applied to register data in other countries where the introduced implant models may be different, and thus evidence of implant-specific learning effects would accumulate. In addition, the learning effects associated with the models included in this thesis could be evaluated in other settings.

With more numerous data (i.e. data covering a wider population of TJRs) the functional form of the learning effect could be analysed more carefully. With more data, the learning curve could be made more flexible in the modelling stage. This work applied a static classification of the order numbers of the implant models, and future work should try to relax the assumptions and try to apply a continuous function on the learning curve.

In orthopaedics, a routine evaluation of newly introduced implants should be carried out regularly. The analysis of learning curves should be complemented with an analysis of the implant-specific risk of reoperation and preferably other outcomes should be included to give a more precise picture of different implants' performance. This would be possible with realtime register data on TJR, with a linkage of records between information sources enabled with the use of PIC. In Finland, the FAR has recently been rebuilt and in the future this kind of analysis becomes feasible.

Furthermore, analyses of the implant survivorship and learning curve should be coupled with data on implant cost in order to establish the costeffectiveness of different implants. Importantly, the costs in such an analysis should take into account the costs incurred from revisions due to a possibly higher revision risk in the learning phase of implanting the device. Research should provide insight for the hospital managers choosing medical technology to be used in a hospital on the marginal utility of a Euro spent on a device, for example, asking what is the price difference of an implant that justifies an introduction of a device to a hospital.

In the present work, analyses of introductions of implant models were performed for total hip and knee implants. However, an important share of the surgical treatment to alleviate patient suffering from osteoarthritis and other disabling conditions is performed using implant designs not included in the thesis, for example, unicompartmental knee implants or hip resurfacing. Register-based analysis of learning effects associated with these devices and surgical techniques would be an important step to take.

The methodology presented in this work enables the analysis of new surgical techniques, given that the classifications used to code these procedures are sufficiently precise, are introduced in a timely fashion, and are well-coded in the clinics. In the quality registers established to collect data on arthroplasties, the techniques and surgical approaches used might be readily available to researchers, and any possible elevated risks related to the introduction of these could be investigated. In addition, the quality registers might include data on outcomes other than revision risk (e.g. patient-related outcome measures, reoperations other than revisions, and other short-term adverse events) that should be assessed in relation to introductions.

The surgeon's experience may affect the steepness of the learning curve and this merits further research. By using data that included a surgeon identifier, a major shortcoming of the present thesis could be tested. As the Finnish Arthroplasty Register used in the thesis did not include data on the surgeon, it was not possible to take into account the surgeon's skill level. This may have biased the results, but unfortunately this could not be tested with the available data. However, register data that includes data on the surgeon may exist in other countries, which would allow for the surgeon effect to be adjusted for. Furthermore, such data would render the analysis of surgeonspecific learning curves analysable. In addition, with such data, the analysis of a surgeon's learning curve could be carried out on a completely new level. Within orthopaedics, to my best knowledge, the surgeon's learning curve has not been assessed with nationwide register data. However, this seems a selfevident thing to do.

It would be very important to establish outcome measures that are applicable in a relatively short time period after the surgery, and would be highly correlated with the long-term survivorship of the implants. As new implants may be introduced simultaneously worldwide and the introduction does not necessitate evidence of implant survivorship, an implant may be used in a great number of patients prior to having reliable data on its performance. Patient satisfaction, surveyed perhaps six months after the surgery, could be used to assess implant performance, and the same measure could be used in the analysis of implant-specific learning curves. With modern computer technology, patient-reported outcome measures could be collected at a reasonable cost, and linked to the surgery.

Hip and knee implants are not the only joint replacement devices implanted into people. For instance, surgery performed on the shoulder has gained popularity, and the study of the implant-specific performance with a view to the learning curve could be performed in this field too. With the principles introduced in this work, such analyses could be made in any setting where there is suitable administrative data available.

The field of analyses regarding learning curves in medicine has not been critically appraised since Ramsay et al. (2000). Thus, a literature review covering the years 2000 to 2015 would be valuable, as it would give information about the state of learning-curve research in the 21st century. As new medical technology is being increasingly introduced, the methodology of the analysis should have learned from the critique presented in the earlier review. It should be assessed if research has met the challenge posed by the increased technological change. Although a simple fact, it would be of value to know if the number of learning curve studies has increased over the years in a way that matches the introduction of new medical technology.

The effects of organizational changes, especially on the quality of care, merit further research. The result of this thesis that the last 100 TJRs in a hospital unit prior to closure could be investigated in these units by interviewing the people involved, both health care professionals and patients, to collect their experiences during the closure stage and to find out the possible reasons that lead to quality deterioration.

The processes of hospital unit launches and closures should be more thoroughly analysed in future works. Research that investigates the possible reasons for quality could be performed, since finding out the reasons behind changes in the quality of care would help decision-makers to minimize changes in quality of care in the event that a unit is to be closed and provide tools to improve the quality of care – not only in the event of closures and other events possibly leading to changes in the quality of care – but also to give possible insights into issues that would help to improve the quality of care overall.

# 7 CONCLUSIONS

This was the first research project to assess learning curves in orthopaedics with administrative, nationwide data. In particular, studies I, II and III included in the thesis were the first to assess the learning effect related to the introduction of new devices in a hospital, in both THR and TKR. Similarly, study IV is pioneering in the field of analysing changes in the quality of care in units performing TJR in the event that units are launched or closed.

The data show that there is an increased risk of early revision surgery for the first patients obtaining a knee or a hip implant model previously unused in a hospital. Some knee and hip prosthesis models have a clear learning curve with high early revision risk at the implementation phase. Patients should be informed if there is a plan to introduce a new model and offered the possibility to choose a conventional implant model instead. In addition, surgeons should be aware of the risks and preferably practice beforehand with the new model using them, for example, with cadavers or plastic bone models. Units performing arthroplasties might consider introducing implant models.

The outcome of total joint replacements is not independent of changes in the production environment. In particular, prior to closing a unit, decisionmakers should also pay attention to the quality perspective. Our findings highlight that closures need to be managed carefully to prevent quality from deteriorating when performing the last arthroplasties in a unit.

It was found that there is an overall learning curve in TKR and THR, but that the learning curves for components are different. The findings are a signal to the entire orthopaedic community of the importance of balancing the benefits and risks of introducing new devices and techniques. Introduction of implants to the market is not strictly regulated, but no doctor should take into use technology whose efficacy has not been scientifically proved.

Both introducing new implants and restructuring the organisation of care are results of decisions that can and should be evaluated. As shown, the quality aspects brought about with these kinds of changes ought to be taken into account whenever the managers are exerting power to adjust the production processes, be it at the level of a single hospital or a clinic, or at the level of the entire health care system.

It is noteworthy that the studies included in the thesis are based on data that reflect routine clinical practice in Finland, and there was no selection of hospitals or units that would hinder the generalizability of the results. Administrative data can serve as a very important means to meet many ends on various levels of interest, ranging from the patient level to the healthsystem level.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I first got the idea that the research of this thesis is largely based on in spring 2008. Then, I sketched out the implant-related studies and made some early analyses of these supported with manuscript drafts. However, it took several years before the first study was published and then a couple of years more to have the whole series ready. This journey has been completely fascinating. Foremost, it has been enjoyable because of the many remarkable persons I have had the privilege to work with and who have contributed to this thesis.

My supervisor, Research Professor Unto Häkkinen, has influenced me more than anyone else over the years. His opinions, sharp notions and most importantly, deep understanding of research and the function and fundamentals of the health and social care system in Finland and globally, have truly given me learning opportunities that I hope will be able to memorize and utilize later in life. His international aspirations have given me the opportunity to meet and collaborate with people from abroad – something that I value highly.

My sincere thanks go to my brilliant co-authors Antti Malmivaara, Mika Paavola and Seppo Seitsalo. I had planned to start with hip implants, but Mika immediately changed my mind after recommending I first analyse knee replacements. It was later confirmed that this had been an excellent suggestion. The first manuscript dealing with knee implants was well received and subsequent work with hip implants proved to be much more complicated. I am grateful to Mika and Antti for guiding me in scientific writing and academic publishing. You have given me important insights into the scientific publication process. Most importantly, without your long experience and clinical know-how I would not have been able to successfully finish any of the manuscripts included in the thesis.

I am greatly indebted to the preliminary examiners of the thesis, Adjunct Professor Petri Virolainen and Associate Professor Ola Rolfson, who carefully reviewed the summary and gave insightful comments that helped me to finalize the work. Most importantly, they have taken care that the clinical terminology and all the details related to total joint replacement are correct. Their suggestions have most certainly saved me losing face due to easy mistakes. The rapid and prompt administrative actions of Professor Ossi Rahkonen made the administration related to this thesis very smooth and simple.

I would like to express gratitude to the National Institute for Health and Welfare for allowing me to use the facilities and infrastucture while preparing the studies included in the thesis. The core of my work is centred on the register data. The value of register data is understood, but I am convinced that the full potential of national-level register data has not yet been realized. I thank Orton for arranging funding without which the study on hospital launches and closures would not have been possible.

Colleagues at the Centre for Health and Social Economics CHESS have supported me in this work enormously. The main reason for a long career at the same unit is the people that I have had the pleasure to collaborate with. You have inspired me to work patiently. Foremost, your personalities and attitudes to life have enriched my stance on life and research. I keep learning from you every day.

This thesis would not have been finalized without my beloved wife Anu. It is totally your achievement that I managed to write a thesis within some kind of reasonable time frame. You are also the inspiration for all my work: your attitude of pushing the limits further, in any matter, has helped me considerably in my life. Your high standards are reflected in this thesis alike.

Finally, I want to thank Anna and Sanni for filling my life with joy and happiness. You make every day an adventure and beautifully remind me that there is a lot more to life than mere science.

### REFERENCES

- Abane, L., Anract, P., Boisgard, S., Descamps, S., Courpied, J.P. & Hamadouche, M. 2015, "A comparison of patient-specific and conventional instrumentation for total knee arthroplasty: a multicentre randomised controlled trial", The bone & joint journal, vol. 97-B, no. 1, pp. 56-63.
- Anand, R., Graves, S.E., de Steiger, R.N., Davidson, D.C., Ryan, P., Miller, L.N. & Cashman, K. 2011, "What is the benefit of introducing new hip and knee prostheses?", The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, vol. 93 Suppl 3, pp. 51-54.
- Archibeck, M.J. & White, R.E., Jr 2004, "Learning curve for the two-incision total hip replacement", Clinical orthopaedics and related research, vol. (429), no. 429, pp. 232-238.
- Avorn, J. 2010, "Regulation of devices", BMJ (Clinical research ed.), vol. 341, pp. c5730.
- Bazzoli, G.J., Clement, J.P., Lindrooth, R.C., Chen, H., Aydede, S.K., Braun, B.I. & Loeb, J.M. 2007, "Hospital Financial Condition and Operational Decisions Related to the Quality of Hospital Care", Medical Care Research and Review, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 148-168.
- Berend, K.R., Lombardi, A.V., Jr, Adams, J.B. & Sneller, M.A. 2011, "Unsatisfactory surgical learning curve with hip resurfacing", The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, vol. 93 Suppl 2, pp. 89-92.
- Berry, D.J., Harmsen, W.S., Cabanela, M.E. & Morrey, B.F. 2002, "Twentyfive-Year Survivorship of Two Thousand Consecutive Primary Charnley Total Hip Replacements", The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, vol. 84, no. 2, pp. 171-177.
- Bosch, M., Faber, M.J., Cruijsberg, J., Voerman, G.E., Leatherman, S., Grol, R.P.T.M., Hulscher, M. & Wensing, M. 2009, "Review Article: Effectiveness of Patient Care Teams and the Role of Clinical Expertise and Coordination: A Literature Review", Medical Care Research and Review, vol. 66, no. 6 suppl, pp. 5S-35S.
- Bruyère, O., Ethgen, O., Neuprez, A., Zegels, B., Gillet, P., Huskin, J.P. & Reginster, J.Y. 2012, "Health-related quality of life after total knee or hip replacement for osteoarthritis: a 7-year prospective study", Archives of orthopaedic and trauma surgery, vol. 132, no. 11, pp. 1583-1587.
- Buchan, J. 2010, "Reviewing the benefits of health workforce stability", Human resources for health, vol. 8, pp. 29-4491-8-29.
- Buchmueller, T.C., Jacobson, M. & Wold, C. 2006, "How far to the hospital?: The effect of hospital closures on access to care", Journal of health economics, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 740-761.
- Callaghan, J.J., Crowninshield, R.D., Greenwald, A.S., Lieberman, J.R., Rosenberg, A.G. & Lewallen, D.G. 2005, "Symposium: introducing technology into orthopaedic practice. How should it be done?", The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, vol. 87, no. 5, pp. 1146-1158.
- Callaghan, J.J., Heekin, R.D., Savory, C.G., Dysart, S.H. & Hopkinson, W.J. 1992, "Evaluation of the learning curve associated with uncemented primary porous-coated anatomic total hip arthroplasty", Clinical orthopaedics and related research, vol. (282), no. 282, pp. 132-144.

- Capps, C., Dranove, D. & Lindrooth, R.C. 2010, "Hospital closure and economic efficiency", Journal of health economics, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 87-109.
- Castle, N.G. 2005, "Nursing Home Closures and Quality of Care", Medical Care Research and Review, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 111-132.
- Cavanagh, S.J. 1989, "Nursing turnover: literature review and methodological critique", Journal of advanced nursing, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 587-596.
- Cheng, C.H., Cheng, Y.T. & Chen, J.S. 2011, "A learning curve of total knee arthroplasty (TKA) based on surgical volume analysis", Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. e5-9.
- Cobb, J.P., Kannan, V., Brust, K. & Thevendran, G. 2007, "Navigation reduces the learning curve in resurfacing total hip arthroplasty", Clin Orthop Relat Res, vol. 463, pp. 90-7.
- Cummings, G. & Estabrooks, C.A. 2003, "The effects of hospital restructuring that included layoffs on individual nurses who remained employed: a systematic review of impact", Int J of Soc & Social Policy, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 8-53.
- Curfman, G.D. & Redberg, R.F. 2011, "Medical Devices Balancing Regulation and Innovation", N Engl J Med, vol. 365, no. 11, pp. 975-977.
- Dakin, H., Gray, A., Fitzpatrick, R., MacLennan, G., Murray, D. & The KAT Trial Group 2012, "Rationing of total knee replacement: a costeffectiveness analysis on a large trial data set", BMJ Open, vol. 2, no. 1.
- Davis, J.A., Savage, G. & Stewart, R.T. 2003, "Organizational downsizing: a review of literature for planning and research", Journal of healthcare management / American College of Healthcare Executives, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 181-99; discussion 200-1.
- Dawson, J., Linsell, L., Zondervan, K., Rose, P., Randall, T., Carr, A. & Fitzpatrick, R. 2004, "Epidemiology of hip and knee pain and its impact on overall health status in older adults", Rheumatology (Oxford, England), vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 497-504.
- de Steiger, R.N., Lorimer, M. & Solomon, M. 2015, "What Is the Learning Curve for the Anterior Approach for Total Hip Arthroplasty?", Clinical orthopaedics and related research, .
- Dixon, T., Shaw, M., Ebrahim, S. & Dieppe, P. 2004, "Trends in hip and knee joint replacement: socioeconomic inequalities and projections of need", Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 63, no. 7, pp. 825-830.
- Dranove, D. & White, W.D. 1998, "Medicaid-dependent hospitals and their patients: how have they fared?", Health services research, vol. 33, no. 2 Pt 1, pp. 163-185.
- Dunlop, D.D., Manheim, L.M., Song, J. & Chang, R.W. 2003, "Health care utilization among older adults with arthritis", Arthritis and Rheumatism, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 164-171.
- Encinosa, W.E. & Bernard, D.M. 2005, "Hospital Finances and Patient Safety Outcomes", INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 60-72.
- Ethgen, O., Bruyere, O., Richy, F., Dardennes, C. & Reginster, J.Y. 2004, "Health-related quality of life in total hip and total knee arthroplasty. A qualitative and systematic review of the literature", The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, vol. 86-A, no. 5, pp. 963-974.
- Furnes, O., Espehaug, B., Lie, S.A., Vollset, S.E., Engesaeter, L.B. & Havelin, L.I. 2002, "Early failures among 7,174 primary total knee replacements: A

follow-up study from the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register 1994-2000", Acta Orthopaedica, vol. 73, no. 2, pp. 117-129.

- Gissler, M. & Haukka, J. 2004, "Finnish health and social welfare registers in epidemiological research", Norsk Epidemiologi, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 113-120.
- Gomez, P.F. & Morcuende, J.A. 2005, "Early attempts at hip arthroplasty--1700s to 1950s", The Iowa orthopaedic journal, vol. 25, pp. 25-29.
- Goytia, R.N., Jones, L.C. & Hungerford, M.W. 2012, "Learning curve for the anterior approach total hip arthroplasty", Journal of surgical orthopaedic advances, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 78-83.
- Hadley, J., Zuckerman, S. & Feder, J. 1989, "Profits and fiscal pressure in the prospective payment system: their impacts on hospitals", Inquiry : a journal of medical care organization, provision and financing, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 354-365.
- Hamilton, W.G., Ammeen, D., Engh, C.A., Jr & Engh, G.A. 2010, "Learning curve with minimally invasive unicompartmental knee arthroplasty", The Journal of arthroplasty, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 735-740.
- Hasan, A., Pozzi, M. & Hamilton, J.R. 2000, "New surgical procedures: can we minimise the learning curve?", BMJ (Clinical research ed.), vol. 320, no. 7228, pp. 171-173.
- Haukka, J., Suvisaari, J., Tuulio-Henriksson, A. & Lonnqvist, J. 2007, "High concordance between self-reported medication and official prescription database information", European journal of clinical pharmacology, vol. 63, no. 11, pp. 1069-1074.
- Heliövaara, M. 2008, "Nivelrikon esiintyvyys ja kustannukset", Lääketieteellinen Aikakauskirja Duodecim, vol. 124, no. 16, pp. 1869-1874.
- Hemmelgarn, B.R., Ghali, W.A. & Quan, H. 2001, "A case study of hospital closure and centralization of coronary revascularization procedures", Canadian Medical Association journal, vol. 164, no. 10, pp. 1431-1435.
- Hodgins, J.L., Veillette, C., Biau, D. & Sonnadara, R. 2014, "The knee arthroscopy learning curve: quantitative assessment of surgical skills", Arthroscopy : The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery : Official Publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 613-621.
- Hoppe, D.J., de Sa, D., Simunovic, N., Bhandari, M., Safran, M.R., Larson, C.M. & Ayeni, O.R. 2014, "The learning curve for hip arthroscopy: a systematic review", Arthroscopy : The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery : Official Publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 389-397.
- Hopper, A.N., Jamison, M.H. & Lewis, W.G. 2007, "Learning curves in surgical practice", Postgraduate medical journal, vol. 83, no. 986, pp. 777-779.
- Häkkinen, U. 2011, "The PERFECT project: measuring performance of health care episodes", Ann Med, vol. 43, pp. S1-S3.
- Jain, N.B., Higgins, L.D., Ozumba, D., Guller, U., Cronin, M., Pietrobon, R. & Katz, J.N. 2005, "Trends in epidemiology of knee arthroplasty in the United States, 1990-2000", Arthritis & Rheumatism, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 3928-3933-3933.
- Jain, N.P., Jowett, A.J. & Clarke, N.M. 2007, "Learning curves in orthopaedic surgery: a case for super-specialisation?", Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England, vol. 89, no. 2, pp. 143-146.

- Jenny, J.Y., Miehlke, R.K. & Giurea, A. 2008, "Learning curve in navigated total knee replacement. A multi-centre study comparing experienced and beginner centres.", Knee, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 80-84.
- Jordan, K.M., Arden, N.K., Doherty, M., Bannwarth, B., Bijlsma, J.W.J., Dieppe, P., Gunther, K., Hauselmann, H., Herrero-Beaumont, G., Kaklamanis, P., Lohmander, S., Leeb, B., Lequesne, M., Mazieres, B., Martin-Mola, E., Pavelka, K., Pendleton, A., Punzi, L., Serni, U., Swoboda, B., Verbruggen, G., Zimmerman-Gorska, I. & Dougados, M. 2003, "EULAR Recommendations 2003: an evidence based approach to the management of knee osteoarthritis: Report of a Task Force of the Standing Committee for International Clinical Studies Including Therapeutic Trials (ESCISIT)", Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 1145-1155.
- Joynt, K.E., Chatterjee, P., Orav, E.J. & Jha, A.K. 2015, "Hospital Closures Had No Measurable Impact On Local Hospitalization Rates Or Mortality Rates, 2003–11", Health affairs, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 765-772.
- Jämsen, E., Huotari, K., Huhtala, H., Nevalainen, J. & Konttinen, Y.T. 2009, "Low rate of infected knee replacements in a nationwide series—is it an underestimate?", Acta Orthop, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 205-212.
- Jämsen, E., Peltola, M., Eskelinen, A. & Lehto, M.U. 2013, "Comorbid diseases as predictors of survival of primary total hip and knee replacements: a nationwide register-based study of 96 754 operations on patients with primary osteoarthritis", Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 72, no. 12, pp. 1975-1982.
- Kellett, C.F., Mackay, N.D. & Smith, J.M. 2012, "The WHO checklist is vital, but staff operating room etiquette skills may be as important in reducing errors in arthroplasty theatre", Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume, vol. 94-B, no. SUPP XXXVIII, pp. 123-123.
- Kempton, L.B., Ankerson, E. & Wiater, J.M. 2011, "A complication-based learning curve from 200 reverse shoulder arthroplasties", Clinical orthopaedics and related research, vol. 469, no. 9, pp. 2496-2504.
- Kesselheim, A.S. & Avorn, J. 2013, "New and unproved medical devices", BMJ (Clinical research ed.), vol. 347, pp. f7413.
- Kesselheim, A.S. & Rajan, P.V. 2014, "Regulating incremental innovation in medical devices", BMJ (Clinical research ed.), vol. 349, pp. g5303.
- Kim, S. 2008, "Changes in surgical loads and economic burden of hip and knee replacements in the US: 1997-2004", Arthritis Care & Research, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 481-488.
- King, J., Stamper, D.L., Schaad, D.C. & Leopold, S.S. 2007, "Minimally Invasive Total Knee Arthroplasty Compared with Traditional Total Knee Arthroplasty. Assessment of the Learning Curve and the Postoperative Recuperative Period", Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, vol. 89, no. 7, pp. 1497-1503.
- Koskinen, E., Eskelinen, A., Paavolainen, P., Pulkkinen, P. & Remes, V. 2008, "Comparison of survival and cost-effectiveness between unicondylar arthroplasty and total knee arthroplasty in patients with primary osteoarthritis: a follow-up study of 50,493 knee replacements from the Finnish Arthroplasty Register", Acta orthopaedica, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 499-507.
- Kramer, D.B., Xu, S. & Kesselheim, A.S. 2012, "Regulation of Medical Devices in the United States and European Union", N Engl J Med, vol. 366, no. 9, pp. 848-855.

- Kurtz, S.M., Ong, K.L., Lau, E. & Bozic, K.J. 2014, "Impact of the economic downturn on total joint replacement demand in the United States: updated projections to 2021", The Journal of bone and joint surgery.American volume, vol. 96, no. 8, pp. 624-630.
- Kurtz, S.M., Ong, K.L., Lau, E., Widmer, M., Maravic, M., Gomez-Barrena, E., de Pina Mde, F., Manno, V., Torre, M., Walter, W.L., de Steiger, R., Geesink, R.G., Peltola, M. & Roder, C. 2011, "International survey of primary and revision total knee replacement", International orthopaedics, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 1783-1789.
- Kurtz, S.M., Ong, K.L., Schmier, J., Mowat, F., Saleh, K., Dybvik, E., Karrholm, J., Garellick, G., Havelin, L.I., Furnes, O., Malchau, H. & Lau, E. 2007a, "Future clinical and economic impact of revision total hip and knee arthroplasty", The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, vol. 89 Suppl 3, pp. 144-151.
- Kurtz, S., Mowat, F., Ong, K., Chan, N., Lau, E. & Halpern, M. 2005, "Prevalence of Primary and Revision Total Hip and Knee Arthroplasty in the United States From 1990 Through 2002", Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, vol. 87, no. 7, pp. 1487-1497.
- Kurtz, S., Ong, K., Lau, E., Mowat, F. & Halpern, M. 2007b, "Projections of Primary and Revision Hip and Knee Arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030", Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, vol. 89, no. 4, pp. 780-785.
- Kynaston-Pearson, F., Ashmore, A.M., Malak, T.T., Rombach, I., Taylor, A., Beard, D., Arden, N.K., Price, A., Prieto-Alhambra, D., Judge, A., Carr, A.J. & Glyn-Jones, S. 2013, "Primary hip replacement prostheses and their evidence base: systematic review of literature", BMJ (Clinical research ed.), vol. 347, pp. f6956.
- Laffosse, J.M., Chiron, P., Accadbled, F., Molinier, F., Tricoire, J.L. & Puget, J. 2006, "Learning curve for a modified Watson-Jones minimally invasive approach in primary total hip replacement: analysis of complications and early results versus the standard-incision posterior approach", Acta Orthopaedica Belgica, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 693-701.
- Le Morvan, P. & Stock, B. 2005, "Medical learning curves and the Kantian ideal", Journal of medical ethics, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 513-518.
- Learmonth, I.D., Young, C. & Rorabeck, C. 2007, "The operation of the century: total hip replacement", The Lancet, vol. 370, no. 9597, pp. 1508-1519.
- Lee, Y.K., Ha, Y.C., Hwang, D.S. & Koo, K.H. 2013, "Learning curve of basic hip arthroscopy technique: CUSUM analysis", Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 1940-1944.
- Lehto, M.U.K., Jämsen, E. & Rissanen, P. 2005, "Lonkan ja polven endoproteesikirurgia - varaosien avulla liikkujaksi", Lääketieteellinen Aikakauskirja Duodecim, vol. 121, no. 8, pp. 893-901.
- Leonard, M.W. & Frankel, A.S. 2011, "Role of Effective Teamwork and Communication in Delivering Safe, High-Quality Care", Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 820-826.
- Lie, X., Es-Skali, I.J., Gubbels, L., Nijhuis, T. & Freeman, C. 2015, "Medical devices: have health technology assessment agencies started to focus more on them?", Value in health : the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. A336.

- Lindrooth, R.C., Lo Sasso, A.T. & Bazzoli, G.J. 2003, "The effect of urban hospital closure on markets", Journal of health economics, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 691-712.
- Lombardi, A.V., Jr, Nunley, R.M., Berend, K.R., Ruh, E.L., Clohisy, J.C., Hamilton, W.G., Della Valle, C.J., Parvizi, J. & Barrack, R.L. 2014, "Do patients return to work after total knee arthroplasty?", Clinical orthopaedics and related research, vol. 472, no. 1, pp. 138-146.
- Lubowitz, J.H., Sahasrabudhe, A. & Appleby, D. 2007, "Minimally invasive surgery in total knee arthroplasty: the learning curve", Orthopedics, vol. 30, no. 8 Suppl, pp. 80-2.
- Mahomed, N.N., Syed, K., Sledge, C.B., Brennan, T.A. & Liang, M.H. 2008, "Improving the postmarket surveillance of total joint arthroplasty devices", The open rheumatology journal, vol. 2, pp. 7-12.
- Mäkelä, K.,T., Peltola, M., Sund, R., Malmivaara, A., Häkkinen, U. & Remes, V. 2011, "Regional and hospital variance in performance of total hip and knee replacements: a national population-based study", Annals of Medicine, vol. 43, pp. S31-S38.
- Mäkelä, K., Eskelinen, A., Pulkkinen, P., Paavolainen, P. & Remes, V. 2008, "Cemented total hip replacement for primary osteoarthritis in patients aged 55 years or older: results of the 12 most common cemented implants followed for 25 years in the Finnish Arthroplasty Register", The Journal of bone and joint surgery.British volume, vol. 90, no. 12, pp. 1562-1569.
- Mäkelä, K.T., Eskelinen, A., Paavolainen, P., Pulkkinen, P. & Remes, V. 2010, "Cementless total hip arthroplasty for primary osteoarthritis in patients aged 55 years and older", Acta orthopaedica, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 42-52.
- Malchau, H. 2000, "Introducing new technology: a stepwise algorithm", Spine, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 285.
- Malmivaara, A. 2013, "Real-effectiveness medicine--pursuing the best effectiveness in the ordinary care of patients", Annals of Medicine, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 103-106.
- Mancuso, C.A., Ranawat, C.S., Esdaile, J.M., Johanson, N.A. & Charlson, M.E. 1996, "Indications for total hip and total knee arthroplasties: Results of orthopaedic surveys", The Journal of arthroplasty, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 34-46.
- Manser, T. 2009, "Teamwork and patient safety in dynamic domains of healthcare: a review of the literature", Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 143-151.
- McCulloch, P., Altman, D.G., Campbell, W.B., Flum, D.R., Glasziou, P., Marshall, J.C. & Nicholl, J. "No surgical innovation without evaluation: the IDEAL recommendations", The Lancet, vol. 374, no. 9695, pp. 1105-1112.
- McMurray, A., Grant, S., Griffiths, S. & Letford, A. 2002, "Health-related quality of life and health service use following total hip replacement surgery", Journal of advanced nursing, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 663-672.
- Melman, W.P., Mollen, B.P., Kollen, B.J. & Verheyen, C.C. 2015, "First experiences with the direct anterior approach in lateral decubitus position: learning curve and 1 year complication rate", Hip international : the journal of clinical and experimental research on hip pathology and therapy, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 251-257.
- Misra-Hebert, A.D., Kay, R. & Stoller, J.K. 2004, "A Review of Physician Turnover: Rates, Causes, and Consequences", American Journal of Medical Quality, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 56-66.

- Misso, M.L., Pitt, V.J., Jones, K.M., Barnes, H.N., Piterman, L. & Green, S.E. 2008, "Quality and consistency of clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis and management of osteoarthritis of the hip and knee: a descriptive overview of published guidelines", The Medical journal of Australia, vol. 189, no. 7, pp. 394-399.
- Mohaddes, M., Björk, M., Rolfson, O., Jolbäck, P., Kärrholm, J. 2016 "No increased risk of early revision during the implementation phase of new cup desings", Acta Orthopaedica, 2016 May 11:1-6. [Epub ahead of print]
- Muller, D.A., Zingg, P.O. & Dora, C. 2014, "Anterior minimally invasive approach for total hip replacement: five-year survivorship and learning curve", Hip international : the journal of clinical and experimental research on hip pathology and therapy, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 277-283.
- Nemes, S., Gordon, M., Rogmark, C. & Rolfson, O. 2014, "Projections of total hip replacement in Sweden from 2013 to 2030", Acta orthopaedica, vol. 85, no. 3, pp. 238-243.
- Nicholson, L.T., Trofa, D. & Smith, E. 2013, "Re-learning curve for conventional total knee arthroplasty following 30 consecutive computerassisted total knee arthroplasties", Computer Aided Surgery, vol. 18, no. 3-4, pp. 63-67.
- Nieuwenhuijse, M.J., Nelissen, R.G., Schoones, J.W. & Sedrakyan, A. 2014, "Appraisal of evidence base for introduction of new implants in hip and knee replacement: a systematic review of five widely used device technologies", BMJ (Clinical research ed.), vol. 349, pp. g5133.
- Nunley, R.M., Zhu, J., Brooks, P.J., A., E.C., Jr, Raterman, S.J., Rogerson, J.S. & Barrack, R.L. "The learning curve for adopting hip resurfacing among hip specialists", Clin Orthop Relat Res, vol. 468, no. 2, pp. 382-91.
- Pabinger, C., Berghold, A., Boehler, N. & Labek, G. 2013, "Revision rates after knee replacement. Cumulative results from worldwide clinical studies versus joint registers", Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 263-268.
- Pabinger, C., Bridgens, A., Berghold, A., Wurzer, P., Boehler, N. & Labek, G. 2015a, "Quality of outcome data in total hip arthroplasty: comparison of registry data and worldwide non-registry studies from 5 decades", Hip international : the journal of clinical and experimental research on hip pathology and therapy, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 394-401.
- Pabinger, C. & Geissler, A. 2014, "Utilization rates of hip arthroplasty in OECD countries", Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 734-741.
- Pabinger, C., Lothaller, H. & Geissler, A. 2015, "Utilization rates of kneearthroplasty in OECD countries", Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 1664-1673.
- Pabinger, C., Lumenta, D.B., Cupak, D., Berghold, A., Boehler, N. & Labek, G. 2015b, "Quality of outcome data in knee arthroplasty", Acta orthopaedica, vol. 86, no. 1, pp. 58-62.
- Pajunen, P., Koukkunen, H., Ketonen, M., Jerkkola, T., Immonen-Räihä, P., Kärjä-Koskenkari, P., Mähönen, M., Niemelä, M., Kuulasmaa, K., Palomäki, P., Mustonen, J., Lehtonen, A., Arstila, M., Vuorenmaa, T., Lehto, S., Miettinen, H., Torppa, J., Tuomilehto, J., Kesäniemi, Y.A., Pyörälä, K. & Salomaa, V. 2005, "The validity of the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register and Causes of Death Register data on coronary heart disease", European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 132-137.

- Pamilo, K.J., Peltola, M., Paloneva, J., Makela, K., Hakkinen, U. & Remes, V. 2015, "Hospital volume affects outcome after total knee arthroplasty", Acta orthopaedica, vol. 86, no. 1, pp. 41-47.
- Peat, G., McCarney, R. & Croft, P. 2001, "Knee pain and osteoarthritis in older adults: a review of community burden and current use of primary health care", Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 91-97.
- Peltola, M., Juntunen, M., Häkkinen, U., Rosenqvist, G., Seppälä, T.T. & Sund, R. 2011, "A methodological approach for register-based evaluation of cost and outcomes in health care", Annals of Medicine, vol. 43, pp. S4-S13.
- Peters, C.L., Erickson, J.A. & Hines, J.L. 2006, "Early results of the Bernese periacetabular osteotomy: the learning curve at an academic medical center", The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, vol. 88, no. 9, pp. 1920-1926.
- Pivec, R., Johnson, A.J., Mears, S.C. & Mont, M.A. 2012, "Hip arthroplasty", The Lancet, vol. 380, no. 9855, pp. 1768-1777.
- Puolakka, T.J.S., Pajamäki, K.J.,J., Halonen, P.J., Pulkkinen, P.O., Paavolainen, P. & Nevalainen, J.K. 2001, "The Finnish Arthroplasty Register: Report of the hip register", Acta Orthopaedica, vol. 72, no. 5, pp. 433-441.
- Rainio, J. & Perälä, A. 2014, Lonkka- ja polviproteesit 2000-2013, THL, Helsinki.
- Ramsay, C.R., Grant, A.M., Wallace, S.A., Garthwaite, P.H., Monk, A.F. & Russell, I.T. 2000, "Assessment of the learning curve in health technologies. A systematic review", International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 1095-1108.
- Ranawat, C.S. 2002, "History of total knee replacement", Journal of the Southern Orthopaedic Association, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 218-226.
- Rand, J.A., Trousdale, R.T., Ilstrup, D.M. & Harmsen, W.S. 2003, "Factors Affecting the Durability of Primary Total Knee Prostheses", Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 259-265.
- Reagans, R., Argote, L. & Brooks, D. 2005, "Individual Experience and Experience Working Together: Predicting Learning Rates from Knowing Who Knows What and Knowing How to Work Together", Management Science, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 869-881.
- Remes, V., Peltola, M., Häkkinen, U., Kröger, H., Leppilahti, J., Linna, M., Malmivaara, A., Mäkelä, K., Nelimarkka, O., Parvinen, I., Seitsalo, S. & Vuorinen, J. 2007, Perfect - tekonivelkirurgia. Lonkan ja polven tekonivelkirurgian kustannukset ja vaikuttavuus., Stakes, Helsinki.
- Remes, V., Puhto, A., Huopio, J., Kettunen, J. & Virolainen, P. (eds) 2015, Hyvä hoito lonkan ja polven tekonivelkirurgiassa 2015, Suomen Artroplastiayhdistys, Joensuu.
- Riedel, B.B., Mildren, M.E., Jobe, C.M., Wongworawat, M.D. & Phipatanakul, W.P. 2010, "Evaluation of the learning curve for reverse shoulder arthroplasty", Orthopedics, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 10.3928/01477447-20100225-09. Epub 2010 Apr 16.
- Rissanen, P., Aro, S., Sintonen, H., Slätis, P. & Paavolainen, P. 1996, "Quality of life and functional ability in hip and knee replacements: a prospective study", Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 56-64.
- Rissanen, P., Aro, S., Sintonen, H., Asikainen, K., Slätis, P. & Paavolainen, P. 1997, "Costs and Cost-Effectiveness in Hip and Knee Replacements: A

Prospective Study", International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care, vol. 13, no. 04, pp. 574-588.

- Robertsson, O. 2007, "Knee arthroplasty registers", Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery British Volume, vol. 89-B, no. 1, pp. 1-4.
- Robertsson, O., Knutson, K., Lewold, S. & Lidgren, L. 2001, "The Swedish Knee Arthroplasty Register 1975-1997: An update with special emphasis on 41,223 knees operated on in 1988-1997", Acta Orthopaedica, vol. 72, no. 5, pp. 503-513.
- Robinson, R.P. 2005, "The Early Innovators of Today's Resurfacing Condylar Knees", The Journal of arthroplasty, vol. 20, Supplement 1, pp. 2-26.
- Salai, M., Mintz, Y., Giveon, U., Chechik, A. & Horoszowski, H. 1997, "The "learning curve" of total hip arthroplasty", Archives of orthopaedic and trauma surgery, vol. 116, no. 6-7, pp. 420-422.
- Samuel, A.M., Rathi, V.K., Grauer, J.N. & Ross, J.S. 2015, "How do Orthopaedic Devices Change After Their Initial FDA Premarket Approval?", Clinical orthopaedics and related research, .
- Sansone, V. & da Gama Malcher, M. 2004, "Mobile-bearing total knee prosthesis: a 5- to 9-year follow-up of the first 110 consecutive arthroplasties", The Journal of arthroplasty, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 678-685.
- Santini, A.J. & Raut, V. 2008, "Ten-year survival analysis of the PFC total knee arthroplasty--a surgeon's first 99 replacements", International orthopaedics, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 459-465.
- Schemitsch, E.H., Bhandari, M., Boden, S.D., Bourne, R.B., Bozic, K.J., Jacobs, J.J. & Zdero, R. 2010, "The evidence-based approach in bringing new orthopaedic devices to market", The Journal of bone and joint surgery.American volume, vol. 92, no. 4, pp. 1030-1037.
- Serra-Sutton, V., Allepuz, A., Espallargues, M., Labek, G. & Pons, J.M.V. 2009, "Arthroplasty registers: A review of international experiences", International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care, vol. 25, no. 01, pp. 63.
- Sharkey, P.F., Sethuraman, V., Hozack, W.J., Rothman, R.H. & Stiehl, J.B. 1999, "Factors influencing choice of implants in total hip arthroplasty and total knee arthroplasty : Perspectives of surgeons and patients", The Journal of arthroplasty, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 281-287.
- Shen, Y.C. 2003, "The effect of financial pressure on the quality of care in hospitals", Journal of health economics, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 243-269.
- Sheth, U., Nguyen, N., Gaines, S., Bhandari, M., Mehlman, C.T. & Klein, G. 2009, "New Orthopedic Devices and the FDA", Journal of long-term effects of medical implants, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 173-183.
- Skou, S., Roos, E.M., Laursen, M.B., Rathleff, M.S., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Simonsen, O. & Rasmussen, S. 2015, "A Randomized, Controlled Trial of Total Knee Replacement", N Engl J Med, vol. 373, no. 17, pp. 1597-1606.
- Skyttä, E.T., Jarkko, L., Antti, E., Huhtala, H. & Ville, R. 2011, "Increasing incidence of hip arthroplasty for primary osteoarthritis in 30- to 59-yearold patients", Acta orthopaedica, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 1-5.
- Sund, R. 2012, "Quality of the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register: a systematic review", Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 505-515.
- Sund, R., Nurmi-Luthje, I., Luthje, P., Tanninen, S., Narinen, A. & Keskimaki, I. 2007, "Comparing properties of audit data and routinely collected register data in case of performance assessment of hip fracture

treatment in Finland", Methods of information in medicine, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 558-566.

- Sund, R. 2008, Methodological perspectives for register-based health system performance assessment - Developing a hip fracture monitoring system in Finland, Sosiaali- ja terveysalan tutkimus- ja kehittämiskeskus, Helsinki.
- Thompson, M., Heneghan, C., Billingsley, M. & Cohen, D. 2011, "Medical device recalls and transparency in the UK", BMJ, vol. 342.
- Towheed, T.E. & Hochberg, M.C. 1996, "Health-related quality of life after total hip replacement", Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 483-491.
- Tucker, K., Pickford, M., Newell, C., Howard, P., Hunt, L.P. & Blom, A.W. 2015, "Mixing of components from different manufacturers in total hip arthroplasty: prevalence and comparative outcomes", Acta Orthopaedica, vol. 86, no. 6, pp. 671-677.
- van der Wal, R., Bouthillette, F. & Havlovic, S.J. 1998, "Recommendations for Managing Hospital Closure", Healthcare Management Forum, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 12-17.
- Van Strien, T., Dankelman, J., Bruijn, J., Feilzer, Q., Rudolphy, V., Van Der Linden Van Der Zwaag, Enrike, Van Der Heide, H., Valstar, E. & Nelissen, R. 2011, "EFFICIENCY AND SAFETY DURING KNEE ARTHROPLASTY SURGERY", Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume, vol. 93-B, no. SUPP II, pp. 115-115.
- Vogt, W.B., Town, R. & Williams, C.H. 2006, "How has hospital consolidation affected the price and quality of hospital care?", The Synthesis project.Research synthesis report, vol. (9). pii: 15231. doi, no. 9, pp. 15231. Epub 2006 Feb 1.
- Walker, D.J., Heslop, P.S., Chandler, C. & Pinder, I.M. 2002, "Measured ambulation and self-reported health status following total joint replacement for the osteoarthritic knee", Rheumatology (Oxford, England), vol. 41, no. 7, pp. 755-758.
- Walton, R., Theodorides, A., Molloy, A. & Melling, D. 2012, "Is there a learning curve in foot and ankle surgery?", Foot and Ankle Surgery, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 62-65.
- Weaver, S.J., Rosen, M.A., DiazGranados, D., Lazzara, E.H., Lyons, R., Salas, E., Knych, S.A., McKeever, M., Adler, L., Barker, M. & King, H.B. 2010, "Does teamwork improve performance in the operating room? A multilevel evaluation", Joint Commission journal on quality and patient safety / Joint Commission Resources, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 133-142.
- Wilmshurst, P. 2011, "The regulation of medical devices", BMJ (Clinical research ed.), vol. 342, pp. d2822.
- Wong, D.A., Herndon, J.H., Canale, S.T., Brooks, R.L., Hunt, T.R., Epps, H.R., Fountain, S.S., Albanese, S.A. & Johanson, N.A. 2009, "Medical errors in orthopaedics. Results of an AAOS member survey", The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, vol. 91, no. 3, pp. 547-557.
- Zanasi, S. 2011, "Innovations in total knee replacement: new trends in operative treatment and changes in peri-operative management", European orthopaedics and traumatology, vol. 2, no. 1-2, pp. 21-31.
- Zhang, Q., Zhang, Q., Guo, W., Liu, Z., Cheng, L., Yue, D. & Zhang, N. 2014, "The learning curve for minimally invasive Oxford phase 3 unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: cumulative summation test for learning curve (LC-CUSUM)", Journal of orthopaedic surgery and research, vol. 9, pp. 81-014-0081-8.

- Zhang, W., Doherty, M., Arden, N., Bannwarth, B., Bijlsma, J., Gunther, K.P., Hauselmann, H.J., Herrero-Beaumont, G., Jordan, K., Kaklamanis, P., Leeb, B., Lequesne, M., Lohmander, S., Mazieres, B., Martin-Mola, E., Pavelka, K., Pendleton, A., Punzi, L., Swoboda, B., Varatojo, R., Verbruggen, G., Zimmermann-Gorska, I., Dougados, M. & EULAR Standing Committee for International Clinical Studies Including Therapeutics (ESCISIT) 2005, "EULAR evidence based recommendations for the management of hip osteoarthritis: report of a task force of the EULAR Standing Committee for International Clinical Studies Including Therapeutics (ESCISIT)", Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 64, no. 5, pp. 669-681.
- Zhang, W., Moskowitz, R.W., Nuki, G., Abramson, S., Altman, R.D., Arden, N., Bierma-Zeinstra, S., Brandt, K.D., Croft, P., Doherty, M., Dougados, M., Hochberg, M., Hunter, D.J., Kwoh, K., Lohmander, L.S. & Tugwell, P. 2008, "OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis, Part II: OARSI evidence-based, expert consensus guidelines", Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 137-162.
- Zhang, Y., Glynn, R.J. & Felson, D.T. 1996, "Musculoskeletal disease research: should we analyze the joint or the person?", The Journal of rheumatology, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 1130-1134.
- Zuckerman, D.M., Brown, P. & Nissen, S.E. 2011, "Medical device recalls and the FDA approval process", Archives of Internal Medicine, vol. 171, no. 11, pp. 1006-1011.

### APPENDIX: LITERATURE ON LEARNING CURVE IN TOTAL HIP AND KNEE REPLACEMENT

- Abane L, Anract P, Boisgard S, Descamps S, Courpied JP, Hamadouche M. A comparison of patient-specific and conventional instrumentation for total knee arthroplasty: a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Bone Joint J. 2015; 97-B(1):56-63.
- Archibeck MJ, White RE,Jr. Learning curve for the two-incision total hip replacement. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2004; 429:232-8.
- Berend KR, Lombardi AV,Jr, Adams JB, Sneller MA. Unsatisfactory surgical learning curve with hip resurfacing. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2011; 93 Suppl 2:89-92.
- Callaghan JJ, Heekin RD, Savory CG, Dysart SH, Hopkinson WJ. Evaluation of the learning curve associated with uncemented primary porous-coated anatomic total hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1992; 282:132-44.
- Cheng CH, Cheng YT, Chen JS. A learning curve of total knee arthroplasty (TKA) based on surgical volume analysis. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2011; 53(1):e5-9.
- Chinnappa J, Chen DB, Harris IA, MacDessi SJ. Total knee arthroplasty using patient-specific guides: Is there a learning curve? The Knee 2015; 22(6):613-7.
- Cobb JP, Kannan V, Brust K, Thevendran G. Navigation reduces the learning curve in resurfacing total hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2007; 463:90-7.
- Confalonieri N, Chemello C, Cerveri P, Manzotti A. Is computer-assisted total knee replacement for beginners or experts? Prospective study among three groups of patients treated by surgeons with different levels of experience. J Orthop Traumatol. 2012; 13(4):203-10.
- Daniilidis K, Tibesku CO. A comparison of conventional and patient-specific instruments in total knee arthroplasty. Int Orthop. 2014; 38(3):503-8.
- D'Arrigo C, Speranza A, Monaco E, Carcangiu A, Ferretti A. Learning curve in tissue sparing total hip replacement: comparison between different approaches. J Orthop Traumatol. 2009; 10(1):47-54.
- Daubresse F, Vajeu C, Loquet J. Total knee arthroplasty with conventional or navigated technique: comparison of the learning curves in a community hospital. Acta Orthop Belg. 2005; 71(6):710-3.
- de Steiger RN, Lorimer M, Solomon M. What Is the Learning Curve for the Anterior Approach for Total Hip Arthroplasty? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2015; 473(12):3860-6.
- Flamme CH, Stukenborg-Colsman C, Wirth CJ. Evaluation of the learning curves associated with uncemented primary total hip arthroplasty depending on the experience of the surgeon. Hip Int. 2006; 16(3):191-7.
- Goytia RN, Jones LC, Hungerford MW. Learning curve for the anterior approach total hip arthroplasty. J Surg Orthop Adv. 2012; 21(2):78-83.
- Hamilton WG, Ammeen D, Engh CA,Jr, Engh GA. Learning curve with minimally invasive unicompartmental knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2010; 25(5):735-40.

- Jablonski M, Gorzelak M, Turzanska K, Pojasek S, Majchrzak D, Pluta R. [Modified Swanson's hip replacement--intraoperative complications and learning curve of the procedure]. Chir Narzadow Ruchu Ortop Pol. 2009; 74(1):5-8.
- Jenny JY, Miehlke RK, Giurea A. Learning curve in navigated total knee replacement. A multi-centre study comparing experienced and beginner centres. Knee. 2008; 15(2):80-4.
- Jiménez-Cristóbal J, de la Cuadra-Virgili P, Torrijos-Garrido P, Bartolomé-García S, Vilanova-Vázquez JL. Learning curve of the limited subvastus approach in minimally invasive surgery in total knee replacement. Revista Española de Cirugía Ortopédica y Traumatología (English Edition) 2011; 55(6):420-7.
- Kashyap SN, Van Ommeren JW, Shankar S. Minimally Invasive Surgical Technique in Total Knee Arthroplasty: A Learning Curve. Surgical Innovation 2009; 16(1):55-62.
- King J, Stamper DL, Schaad DC, Leopold SS. Minimally Invasive Total Knee Arthroplasty Compared with Traditional Total Knee Arthroplasty. Assessment of the Learning Curve and the Postoperative Recuperative Period. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007; 89(7):1497-503.
- Laffosse JM, Chiron P, Accadbled F, Molinier F, Tricoire JL, Puget J. Learning curve for a modified Watson-Jones minimally invasive approach in primary total hip replacement: analysis of complications and early results versus the standard-incision posterior approach. Acta Orthop Belg. 2006; 72(6):693-701.
- Lee YK, Biau DJ, Yoon BH, Kim TY, Ha YC, Koo KH. Learning curve of acetabular cup positioning in total hip arthroplasty using a cumulative summation test for learning curve (LC-CUSUM). J Arthroplasty 2014; 29(3):586-9.
- Lubowitz JH, Sahasrabudhe A, Appleby D. Minimally invasive surgery in total knee arthroplasty: the learning curve. Orthopedics 2007; 30(8 Suppl):80-2.
- Maniar RN, Johorey AC, Pujary CT, Yadava AN. Margin of error in alignment: a study undertaken when converting from conventional to computer-assisted total knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2011; 26(1):82-7.
- Manzotti A, Cerveri P, De Momi E, Pullen C, Confalonieri N. Relationship between cutting errors and learning curve in computer-assisted total knee replacement. Int Orthop. 2010; 34(5):655-62.
- Melman WP, Mollen BP, Kollen BJ, Verheyen CC. First experiences with the direct anterior approach in lateral decubitus position: learning curve and 1 year complication rate. Hip Int. 2015; 25(3):251-7.
- Mohaddes M, Björk M, Rolfson O, Jolbäck P, Kärrholm J. No increased risk of early revision during the implementation phase of new cup desings. Acta Orthop. 2016 May 11:1-6. [Epub ahead of print]
- Muller DA, Zingg PO, Dora C. Anterior minimally invasive approach for total hip replacement: five-year survivorship and learning curve. Hip Int. 2014; 24(3):277-83.
- Nicholson LT, Trofa D, Smith E. Re-learning curve for conventional total knee arthroplasty following 30 consecutive computer-assisted total knee arthroplasties. Computer Aided Surgery 2013; 18(3-4):63-7.
- Nunley RM, Zhu J, Brooks PJ, A. EC, Jr, Raterman SJ, Rogerson JS, et al. The learning curve for adopting hip resurfacing among hip specialists. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2010; 468(2):382-91.

- Pogliacomi F, Paraskevopoulos A, Costantino C, Marenghi P, Ceccarelli F. Influence of surgical experience in the learning curve of a new approach in hip replacement: anterior mini-invasive vs. standard lateral. Hip Int. 2012; 22(5):555-61.
- Rasuli KJ, Gofton W. Percutaneously assisted total hip (PATH) and Supercapsular percutaneously assisted total hip (SuperPATH) arthroplasty: learning curves and early outcomes. Ann Transl Med. 2015; 3(13):179,5839.2015.08.02.
- Redmond JM, Gupta A, Hammarstedt JE, Petrakos AE, Finch NA, Domb BG. The Learning Curve Associated With Robotic-Assisted Total Hip Arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2015; 30(1):50-4.
- Romanowski JR, Swank ML. Imageless navigation in hip resurfacing: avoiding component malposition during the surgeon learning curve. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008; 90 Suppl 3:65-70.
- Saithna A, Dekker AP. The influence of computer navigation on trainee learning in hip resurfacing arthroplasty. Computer Aided Surgery 2009; 14(4-6):117-22.
- Salai M, Mintz Y, Giveon U, Chechik A, Horoszowski H. The "learning curve" of total hip arthroplasty. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 1997; 116(6-7):420-2.
- Sansone V, da Gama Malcher M. Mobile-bearing total knee prosthesis: a 5- to 9-year follow-up of the first 110 consecutive arthroplasties. J Arthroplasty 2004; 19(6):678-85.
- Santini AJ, Raut V. Ten-year survival analysis of the PFC total knee arthroplasty--a surgeon's first 99 replacements. Int Orthop. 2008; 32(4):459-65.
- Schnurr C, Eysel P, König DP. Displays mounted on cutting blocks reduce the learning curve in navigated total knee arthroplasty. Computer Aided Surgery 2011; 16(5):249-56.
- Seng BE, Berend KR, Ajluni AF, V. LA, Jr. Anterior-supine minimally invasive total hip arthroplasty: defining the learning curve. Orthop Clin North Am. 2009; 40(3):343-50.
- Seyler TM, Lai LP, Sprinkle DI, Ward WG, Jinnah RH. Does computerassisted surgery improve accuracy and decrease the learning curve in hip resurfacing? A radiographic analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008; 90 Suppl 3:71-80.
- Smith BR, Deakin AH, Baines J, Picard F. Computer navigated total knee arthroplasty: the learning curve. Computer Aided Surgery 2010; 15(1-3):40-8.
- Spaans AJ, van den Hout JA, Bolder SB. High complication rate in the early experience of minimally invasive total hip arthroplasty by the direct anterior approach. Acta Orthop. 2012; 83(4):342-6.
- Stiehler M, Goronzy J, Kirschner S, Hartmann A, Schafer T, Gunther KP. Effect of surgical experience on imageless computer-assisted femoral component positioning in hip resurfacing--a preclinical study. Eur J Med Res. 2015; 20:18,015-0086-8.
- Thorey F, Klages P, Lerch M, Florkemeier T, Windhagen H, von Lewinski G. Cup positioning in primary total hip arthroplasty using an imageless navigation device: is there a learning curve? Orthopedics 2009; 32(10 Suppl):14-7.
- Van Oldenrijk J, Schafroth MU, Rijk E, Runne WC, Verheyen CC, van Egmond C, et al. Learning curve analysis of the Collum Femoris Preserving total hip surgical technique. Hip Int. 2013; 23(2):154-61.
Zhang Q, Zhang Q, Guo W, Liu Z, Cheng L, Yue D, et al. The learning curve for minimally invasive Oxford phase 3 unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: cumulative summation test for learning curve (LC-CUSUM). J Orthop Surg Res. 2014; 9:81,014-0081-8.

## **ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS**